From DEPARTMENT OF MEDICINE

Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

MEMBRANE PROTEINS AND PROTEOMICS – UN AMOUR POSSIBLE?

Hanna Eriksson



Stockholm 2011

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher.

Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by Larserics Digital Print AB, Sundbyberg

© Hanna Eriksson, 2011 ISBN 978-91-7457-266-7

"Dä ä ba en liten väst..."

"Research is what I'm doing when I don't know what I'm doing"

Wernher von Braun (1912-1977)

ABSTRACT

Membrane proteins constitute 20-30 % of the human genome and make up 60 % of all drug targets. They play important roles in key cellular functions such as small molecules transport, cell-cell interactions and cell signaling. Membrane proteins and proteomics have been notoriously difficult to combine. Most proteomic methods commonly used for analysis of soluble proteins cannot be used for membrane proteins, mainly due to their amphipathic nature. In this thesis, a method is described for quantitative proteomic analysis of membrane protein enriched samples. In **paper I** the method is applied to small cell lung cancer cell lines to elucidate Doxorubicin resistance mechanisms. We demonstrate that the microsomal preparation and iTRAQ labeling is reproducible regarding protein content and composition. The rationale using narrow range peptide isoelectric focusing separation is demonstrated by its ability to: i) lowering the complexity of the sample by two thirds while keeping a high proteome coverage (96%), ii) providing high separation efficiency and iii) allowing for peptide validation and possibly identifications of post transcriptional modifications. The work from paper I encouraged us to further explore the properties of narrow range peptide IEF as a separation strategy. We and others have shown that using IEF as the first dimension of separation is a highly suitable method when analyzing complex samples. It provides an orthogonal separation strategy to reversed phase chromatography as well as giving the opportunity to reduce false positives and false negatives generated in the database search, using the pI values of the peptides. In paper II, we wanted to explore the possibilities of using a combination of narrow range peptide IEF and reversed phase chromatography to increase the information content of a proteomic analysis. In the final two papers of this thesis, the method described in paper I is subsequently applied to clinical material. In paper III, the membrane protein fractions of benign and malignant adrenocortical tumors are compared. The mitochondrial membrane protein GRIM-19, a negative regulator of STAT3, is identified as down-regulated in the malignant tissue. The possible role of GRIM-19 down-regulation in the tumorigenesis is discussed. In **paper IV**, the membrane-associated protein population of alveolar macrophages isolated from Sarcoidosis patients is compared with healthy controls. Affected pathways are described and discussed.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- I. Eriksson, H.; Lengqvist, J.; Hedlund, J.; Uhlén, K.; Orre, L. M.; Bjellqvist, B.; Persson, B.; Lehtiö, J.; Jakobsson, P-J., Quantitative membrane proteomics applying narrow range peptide isoelectric focusing for studies of small cell lung cancer resistance mechanisms. *Proteomics* 2008, 8(15):3008-18.
- II. Lengqvist, J.; Eriksson, H.; Gry, M.; Uhlén, K.; Björklund, C.; Bjellqvist, B.; Jakobsson, P-J.; Lehtiö, J., Observed peptide pI and retention time shifts as a result of post-translational modifications in multidimensional separations using narrow-range IPG-IEF. *Amino Acids* 2010, 40(2):697-711.
- III. Eriksson, H.; Johansson, H.; Höög, A., Lehtiö, J.; Kjellman, M.; Jakobsson, P-J., Membrane proteomics analysis of adrenocortical tumors identifies a down-regulation of the tumor suppressor protein GRIM-19 in malignant tissue compared to benign. *Manuscript*
- IV. Silva, E*.; Eriksson, H*.; Mamede Branca, R.; Eklund, A.; Jakobsson, P-J.; Grunewald, J.; Lehtiö, J.; Wheelock, Å., Proteomic analysis of membraneassociated proteins in alveolar macrophages from patients with pulmonary sarcoidosis. *Manuscript* *Equal contribution

Additional publications

Maddalo, G.; Stenberg Bruzell, F.; Götzke, H.; Toddo, S.; Björkholm, P.; **Eriksson, H**.; Chovanec, P.; Genevaux, P.; Lehtiö, J.; Ilag, L. L.; Daley, D. O., A systematic analysis of native membrane protein complexes in Escherichia coli. *J Proteome Res* 2011, Jan 7 (epub ahead of print).

Hermansson, M.; Artemenko, K.; Ossipova, E.; **Eriksson, H**.; Lengqvist, J.; Makrygiannakis, D.; Catrina, A. I.; Nicholas, A. P.; Klareskog, L.; Savitski, M. A.; Zubarev, R.; Jakobsson, P-J., MS analysis of rheumatoid arthritic synovial tissue identifies specific citrullination sites on fibrinogen. *Proteomics Clin Appl.* 2010, May;4(5):511-8.

Pernemalm, M.; De Petris, L.; **Eriksson, H**.; Brandén, E.; Koyi, H.; Kanter, L.; Lewensohn, R.; Lehtiö, J., Use of narrow-range peptide IEF to improve detection of lung adenocarcinoma markers in plasma and pleural effusion. *Proteomics* 2009, Jul;9(13):3414-24.

Silva, E.; Bourin, S.; Sabounchi-Schütt, F.; Laurin, Y.; Barker, E.; Newman, L.; **Eriksson, H**.; Eklund, A.; Grunewald, J., A quantitative proteomic analysis of soluble bronchoalveolar fluid proteins from patients with sarcoidosis and chronic beryllium disease. *Sarcoidosis Vasc Diffuse Lung Dis* 2007, Mar;24(1):24-32.

CONTENTS

1	Background1				
	1.1	Proteo	mics	1	
		1.1.1	Fractionation	2	
		1.1.2	Mass spectrometry	3	
	1.2	Membrane proteins			
		1.2.1	Enrichment strategies	6	
		1.2.2	Prediction of transmembrane domains (TMDs)	7	
	1.3	Proteomics of membrane proteins			
		1.3.1	Gel-based methods	8	
		1.3.2	Shotgun methods	9	
	1.4	Quanti	fication and data analysis	12	
		1.4.1	Quantification	12	
		1.4.2	Statistics and Biological interpretation	14	
	1.5	Valida	tion	15	
	1.6	Lung c	ancer	16	
		1.6.1	Chemotherapy and drug resistance	16	
	1.7	Adrena	al gland	17	
		1.7.1	Adrenocortical tumors	17	
	1.8	Sarcoi	dosis		
2	The present study			20	
	2.1	Aims			
	2.2	Materials and methods			
		2.2.1	Cell and tissue samples		
		2.2.2	Microsomal preparation	21	
		2.2.3	Digestion and iTRAO labeling		
		2.2.4	Isoelectric focusing		
		2.2.5	LC-MS/MS analyses		
		2.2.6	Data analysis and statistics.		
		2.2.7	Western blot and immunohistochemistry		
	2.3	Results and discussion			
		2.3.1	Microsomal preparation	25	
		2.3.2	Delipidation solubilization and digestion	25	
		2.3.2	iTRAO labeling	25	
		2.3.4	Reproducibility of the microsomal preparation	27	
		2.3.1	Membrane protein content	27	
		2.3.6	Pentide fractionation	28	
		2.3.0	n <i>I</i> and retention time predictions	20	
		2.3.7	Lung cancer resistance mechanisms		
		2.3.0	Adrenocortical tumors		
		2.3.7 2 3 10	Sarcoidosis	35	
	24	General conclusions and future perspectives			
	<i>∠</i> .⊤	2 4 1	Future perspectives		
3	Ach	–.−.ı nowleda	rements		
<u>л</u>	Refe	rences			
-	I CIC				

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

2-DE	Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis
16-BAC	16-benzyldimethyl-n-hexadecylammonium chloride
ACA	Adrenocortical adenoma
ACC	Adrenocortical carcinoma
AM	Alveolar macrophage
BN	Blue native polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
CHCA	alpha-cyano-4-hydroxycinnamic acid
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ESI	Electrospray ionization
FA	Formic acid
FDR	False discovery rate
FTICR	Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance
GRIM-19	Gene associated with Retinoic- and Interferon-induced Mortality-19
IEF	Isoelectric focusing
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IMP	Integral membrane protein
IPG	Immobilized pH gradient
iTRAQ	Isobaric tags for relative and absolute quantification
LC	Liquid chromatography
MALDI	Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization
MAP	Membrane-associated protein
mRNA	Messenger RNA
MS	Mass spectrometry
MudPIT	Multidimensional protein identification technology
m/z	Mass-to-charge ratio
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
pI	Isoelectric point
RP	Reversed phase
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
SAM	Significance analysis of microarrays
SCX	Strong cation exchange
SCLC	Small cell lung cancer
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SRM	Selected reaction monitoring
TCA	Trifluoroacetic acid
TMD	Transmembrane domain
TOF	Time of flight

1 BACKGROUND

1.1 PROTEOMICS

The genome is the entirety of an organism's hereditary information. The information is coded in the DNA, which consists of both coding and non-coding sequences. The human genome was mapped in 2001¹⁻² and is estimated to contain approximately 20 000 protein-coding sequences, or genes³⁻⁴. A gene is a series of nucleotides, or simplified, letters, and the order of these letters decide into what kind of protein the gene will be coded into. The proteins are the true work horses of an organism; each protein has specific functions within or outside the cell. A protein can have different functions or characteristics depending on for instance certain structural modifications or cellular location. Also, a gene can have alternative splicing variants and become differentially edited at RNA level, and consequently give rise to different proteins. This means that the number of human proteins greatly exceeds the number of human genes. The term proteome (in analogy to genome) was first introduced by Marc Wilkins in 1994 an was subsequently published in 1995⁵. Wilkins defined the proteome as the entire protein complement of a genome, a cell, a tissue or an organism. The human proteome has not been mapped but a single human cell has been estimated to contain ~100 000 proteins⁶.

Proteomics is the common name for the methods used to study the proteome. Several "omics" research areas have emerged in the years following the mapping of the human genome, e.g. genomics (study of the genes), transcriptomics (study of the transcripts, mRNAs) and metabolomics (study of the metabolites), and new omics fields regularly pop up. The overall aim of these technologies is that by studying several molecules at the same time instead of one at the time, patterns can be recognized and previously unknown molecules may be identified of potential interest for the question at hand. In an ordinary research project, the researcher usually has a hypothesis and experiments are then performed to prove this hypothesis. In omics research, the experiments are instead hypothesis driving; you go in the direction the experiments point you.

In a proteomic experiment, either a *top-down* or a *bottom-up* approach may be employed (figure 1). In a top-down approach, focus lies on separating intact proteins, either by two-dimensional electrophoresis (2-DE) or by mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS or SELDI-TOF MS). $2-DE^7$ was for long the standard method in a proteomic experiment. The basic principles consist of first separating the proteins by their isoelectric point (pI) in an immobilized pH gradient, after which the proteins are separated by size by sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE). The generated gels are then stained, the spots are excised and the proteins identified using mass spectrometry. On a single gel, thousand(s) of proteins can be visualized, however far from all of them are assigned with identities. Using mass spectrometry to separate intact proteins usually generates protein profiles that are compared between samples, and an alternative technique is then employed to identify the proteins. In a bottom-up approach (or shotgun approach), the proteins are first digested into peptides and focus lies on separating the peptides before mass spectrometry analyses. This approach has been used throughout the studies comprising this thesis and will be further presented in the coming sections.



Figure 1. Proteomic experiments can have either a bottom-up approach (1) or a topdown approach (2a and 2b).

1.1.1 Fractionation

The dynamics of the proteome, as opposed to the genome, makes it more challenging to study. Not only is it greater in number, as discussed above, but the proteome constantly changes by responding to environmental parameters. Proteins are also chemically more heterogeneous as a group than DNA or RNA; they differ largely in size, solubility and p*I*. Additionally, some proteins only exist in a few copies per cell, whereas others can be high-abundant; this is often referred to as the high dynamic range problem. This presents an analytical challenge, since mass spectrometers have limited dynamic range. The complex nature of a proteome sample calls for strategies to reduce the complexity

in order to aid identification of as many proteins as possible. To do this, the sample is usually *fractionated* and this can be done either on protein level or on peptide level or by using a combination of the two.

Fractionation on a protein level can be performed either by using chemical characteristics of the proteins or their cellular location (section **1.2.1**). Liquid chromatography methods can be used to separate proteins based on hydrophobicity, size or charge⁸. There are also methods targeting specific sub-groups of proteins, e.g. glycosylated proteins⁹ or high-abundant proteins¹⁰. One-dimensional gel electrophoresis followed by in-gel digestion of protein bands has been employed to separate proteins according to size¹¹.

When using a bottom-up approach, fractionation at peptide level is crucial since the complexity of the sample is further increased due to enzymatic cleavage. In analogy to protein separation, liquid chromatography can be used to separate peptides based on hydrophobicity or charge. One of the most commonly used techniques is the MudPIT (multidimensional protein identification technology) approach, where the peptides are separated both by strong anion exchange (SCX) and reversed phase (RP) ¹²⁻¹³. Isoelectric focusing is a technique that has gained increasingly more interest¹⁴⁻¹⁵. It can be performed both in-gel and in-solution¹⁶ and different pH ranges can be utilized, depending on the main purpose of the strategy. Usually, the peptides are first separated by pI after which a standard reversed phase separation is performed. Narrow range isoelectric focusing has been employed in all four papers included in this thesis (papers I-IV). In this technique, peptides are separated in an immobilized pH gradient, which spans a little over 1 pH unit. This way, the sample complexity is reduced by two thirds, while high proteome coverage is maintained (see section **2.3.6** and **paper I**). Reduced sample complexity increases the chances of identifying low-abundant proteins. Another advantage of using IEF as the first dimension separation is that the added information about the peptide pI can be used to validate the identifications. Several algorithms to calculate the p*I*s have been developed¹⁷⁻¹⁸; this is further explored in **paper II**.

1.1.2 Mass spectrometry

To obtain the identity of the proteins studied, mass spectrometry is by far the most widely used method today. The basic principle of mass spectrometry consists of ionizing chemical compounds to generate charged molecules or molecule fragments and then measuring their mass-to-charge (m/z) ratios. A mass spectrometer is built up by three modules; an ion source, a mass analyzer and a detector.

The analytes of interest are ionized and brought to gas-phase in the **ion source**. There are different types of ion sources; the two most commonly used in proteomics are MALDI (matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization) and ESI (electrospray ionization). MALDI¹⁹ is based on the co-crystallization of sample molecules with an energy-absorbing matrix. When a laser beam hits the crystals, a matrix plume is formed that expands into the gas-phase and the sample molecules are ionized, forming predominately singly charged ions. In ESI²⁰, ionization *per se* is not occurring but rather pre-existent ions are brought from solution into the gas-phase. It is a soft ionization technique giving rise to little or no fragmentation of the molecules. Since the

ESI process is starting from droplets, it is easily coupled to on-line liquid chromatography (LC).

The next step takes place when the ions enter the mass analyzer. Here the ions are separated based on their mass-to-charge ratios. Quadrupoles are the most common type of mass analyzers. Briefly, it consists of four circular rods and ions are separated based on the stability of their trajectories in the oscillating electric fields that are applied to the rods. Often three quadrupoles are placed in series; the first one is used to scan across a preset m/z range and select an ion of interest, the second quadrupole is the collision cell and the third analyzes the fragment ions generated in the collision cell²¹⁻²². In the quadrupole ion trap analyzers, ions are introduced in a pulsing mode, as opposed to normal quadrupoles where they enter in a continuous mode. The ions are detained in the ion trap, and how stably trapped the ion will be depends on the mass-to-charge ratio²². A *linear quadrupole ion trap* (LTQ) is similar to a quadrupole ion trap, but it has an extended volume in the trap to increase the sensitivity. In the *time-of-flight* analyzer, ions are accelerated by an electric field of known strength where the velocity of the ions depends on the mass-to-charge ratio. The time that it takes for the ion to reach the detector is measured and this time depends on the mass-to-charge ratio; smaller ions travel faster²³. The *fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance (FTICR)* analyzer measures mass by detecting the image current produced by ions cyclotroning in a magnetic field²⁴. The ions that are affected by a magnetic field move at a given cyclotron frequency depending on their m/z and this is subsequently measured. By using Fourier transformation the frequency is converted to a mass-to-charge value. The Orbitrap analyzer is similar to the FTICR, with the difference that it uses an electrostatic field instead of a magnetic field to separate the masses²⁵⁻²⁸. A linear ion trap is often used as a front end of the Orbitrap (LTQ-Orbitraps), thereby combining the benefits of an ion trap (speed, large trapping capacity, MSⁿ capability and versatility) with the benefits of an FTICR instrument (high mass accuracy, high resolving power, high sensitivity and high dynamic range) 29 .

The last module, the **detector**, registers the number of ions at any given m/z value. Typically, some type of electron multiplier is used; the most commonly used in modern instruments is the microchannel plate detector³⁰. In FTICR and Orbitrap instruments, the detector consists of a pair of metal surfaces within the mass analyzer/ion trap region which the ions only pass near as they oscillate. In all detectors, the signal is converted to a mass spectrum with m/z on the x-axis and ion count/intensity on the y-axis.

1.2 MEMBRANE PROTEINS

Membrane proteins are part of the interface between the outside and the inside of the cell, as well as the interface between intracellular compartments. As such, they play important roles in key cellular functions such as small molecules transport, cell-cell interactions and cell signaling. It is estimated that approximately 20-30 % of all human proteins are membrane proteins³¹⁻³². The fact that ~60 % of all drug targets are directed towards membrane proteins reflects their importance³³.

The membranes of living cells are composed by a lipid bilayer, which serves both to separate different compartments of the cell and to separate the cell from the surrounding environment. The lipids in the membrane consist of hydrocarbon chains, which are hydrophobic, attached to polar phosphate head groups, which are water soluble. The name bilayer stems from the fact that the hydrocarbon chains of two monolayers of lipids are fused together to form a single sheet with the polar head groups on both sides. This elegant solution makes the membrane *soluble*, but not *permeable*.

There are different classes of membrane proteins. A first distinction must be made between integral membrane proteins (IMP) and membrane-associated proteins (MAP). MAPs are attached to the surface of the membrane whereas the protein in itself is a soluble protein. IMPs on the other hand, span the lipid bilayer. The driving force behind IMP structure is the hydrophobic core of this bilayer. Since peptide bonds are highly polar, proteins must adopt secondary structures that shield the backbone from the lipid core. This is achieved by allowing extensive hydrogen bonding between backbone amides and carbonyls. IMPs are further divided into *a-helical bundle proteins* and *β-barrel proteins*.

β-Barrel proteins mainly exist in the outer membranes of Gram-negative bacteria, chloroplasts and mitochondria, where they regulate membrane integrity and allow for passive influx/efflux of small molecules³⁴. The membrane-spanning segments consist of β-strands organized in a barrel where the interior forms a pore with a polar environment. β-Barrel proteins have an overall hydropathy that is similar to soluble proteins³⁵.

 α -Helical bundle proteins are abundant and found in all membrane types, except for the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria. These proteins are built up from α -helices that span the lipid bilayer, connected by loop regions that extend into the cyto- or periplasm. They can be divided into *bitopic* proteins (figure 2a), which have one transmembrane domain (TMD) or *polytopic* (figure 2b), which have multiple TMDs. Bitopic proteins are often cell surface markers, receptors or adhesion factors. The 7-TMD GPCRs (G-protein coupled receptors) make out a large part of the polytopic proteins in mammals. α -Helical bundle proteins have been the focus in the experiments in this thesis, and will hereafter simply be referred to as membrane proteins.



Figure 2. a) Bitopic integral membrane protein. b) Polytopic integral membrane protein.

1.2.1 Enrichment strategies

The most straightforward approach to fractionate the proteome involves cell lysis followed by sequential centrifugation steps to remove cell debris and isolate the membrane from the soluble protein fraction³⁶. Further purification can be accomplished by subcellular fractionation, a concept that was pioneered by De Duve and colleagues in 1955 using rat liver tissue³⁷. The procedure involves cell disruption, aiming at maintaining structural and functional integrity of the intracellular organelles, followed by a series of centrifugation steps to separate different populations of cellular compartments or organelles based on their mass and/or density³⁸. One of the most widely used techniques for subcellular fractionation is density gradient centrifugation³⁹⁻⁴⁰, using e.g. sucrose, sorbitol, FicollTM or PercollTM. Here different membranes partition into different fractions depending on the density of the membrane. This technique has been used to isolate numerous subcellular structures; e.g. plasma membranes⁴¹, mitochondria⁴², Golgi⁴³, synaptic vesicles⁴⁴ and platelet membranes⁴⁶ and immunoaffinity purification⁴⁴.

The plasma membrane has gained much attention, being the physical barrier between a eukaryotic cell and its environment. Plasma membrane proteins carry out many important biological functions like intercellular communication and signal transduction. Therefore, efforts have been made to isolate only the plasma membrane, with as little contamination from other membranes as possible. Jacobson and colleagues developed a method where they coated cells with colloidal silica, after which the silica-membrane complexes were cross-linked using an anionic polymer⁴⁷. After cell lysis, the plasma membrane sheets could be readily isolated by centrifugation owing to their increased density. The method has been applied to cells⁴⁸⁻⁴⁹ as well as tissue⁵⁰⁻⁵¹. Another method for isolation of the plasma membrane is aqueous-polymer two-phase partitioning⁵². Here, two structurally distinct water-soluble polymers are mixed in an aqueous solution and above a critical concentration the polymers will separate into two distinct phases,

with plasma membranes preferentially segregating into the more hydrophobic phase. Common polymers used in this method are polyethylene glycol (PEG) and dextran.

1.2.1.1 Enriching for integral membrane proteins

To further enrich for integral membrane proteins, there are different strategies for removal of membrane-associated proteins (MAPs) and lipids, the two most common "contaminators". MAPs can be quite readily removed from the membrane protein fraction by breaking their interactions with the polar head groups of the membranes or with the IMPs using high pH or high-ionic-strength washes. The most widely used high pH buffers are sodium carbonate and sodium hydroxide, see e.g.⁵³. For ionic dissociation, typical salts include sodium chloride, potassium chloride, sodium bromide, and potassium bromide. Lipids can interfere with downstream analyses (e.g. enzymatic digestion and liquid chromatography) and the most widely used method for removal involves protein precipitation by adding methanol/chloroform⁵⁴. Lipids partition into the chloroform layer and proteins precipitate at the chloroform/aqueous methanol interface. Other methods include cold acetone⁵⁵ (alone or in combination with other organic solvents) precipitation, TCA⁵⁶ (trichloroacetic acid) precipitation followed by acetone wash or ethanol treatment⁵⁷.

1.2.2 Prediction of transmembrane domains (TMDs)

The properties of the lipid bilayer limit the number of possible conformations of a membrane protein. Hence, there are large similarities between membrane proteins of different function and size, even if they originate from different types of membranes or different organisms. Using these similarities, important structural features can be predicted from the amino acid sequence alone. The most obvious feature that can be predicted is the number of transmembrane domains (TMDs) and where in the protein they are located. Several algorithms for prediction of TMDs have been developed; in this thesis the TMHMM⁵⁸⁻⁵⁹ algorithm was used. This is a method based on a Hidden Markov Model. Briefly, it consists of modeling different regions of a membrane protein by choosing possible states and picking the most likely topology by comparison with experimentally derived models. Other prediction algorithms include TopPred⁶⁰, MEMSAT⁶¹, PHDhtm⁶², and HMMTOP⁶³.

1.3 PROTEOMICS OF MEMBRANE PROTEINS

Proteomics of integral membrane proteins has over the years proven to be challenging. The first paper dealing with a proteomic analysis of membrane proteins came as early as 1976⁶⁴. However, it was a two-dimensional gel electrophoresis experiment and at that time there were no methods to couple gel electrophoresis with identification of the proteins. Improved analysis was claimed by changing the experimental conditions and by that showing more protein spots. Hence, there was no way to know if the proteins detected were in fact membrane proteins or not.

Membrane proteins are difficult to study mainly due to two reasons; their general *low-abundance* and their *hydrophobicity*, which resists interaction with aqueous buffers. Major challenges in any proteomic experiment are i) the sample complexity and ii) the dynamic range problem, i.e. the wide concentration range of proteins within a sample from e.g. a cell in face of the limited dynamic range of the mass spectrometer. In the light of these facts, there is no surprise that membrane proteins are under-represented in proteomic investigations.

1.3.1 Gel-based methods

Conventional 2-DE is less suited for membrane proteins, since they are often basic proteins (high pI) at which 2D gels have reduced resolving power. Also, at their pI, most proteins are less soluble and membrane proteins tend to precipitate. However, a few gel-based methods suitable for hydrophobic proteins have been developed, including 16-benzyldimethyl-*n*-hexadecylammonium chloride (BAC)/SDS-PAGE⁶⁵⁻⁶⁶, blue native (BN)-PAGE⁶⁷ and doubled SDS-PAGE⁶⁸.

In a 16-BAC/SDS-PAGE analysis, the proteins are separated according to molecular mass in a discontinuous acidic gradient (pH 4.0-1.5) using the cationic detergent 16-BAC in the first dimension and standard SDS-PAGE in the second dimension. Although the proteins are separated my mass in both dimensions, the two detergents (16-BAC and SDS) have different binding properties, which allows for separation of proteins of similar molecular weight. The method has been used to identify mitochondrial proteins, human platelet membrane proteins and synaptic vesicle proteins. 16-BAC seems to be more efficient than conventional 2-DE at transfer into the second dimension⁶⁹, but still remains the problem of inefficient in-gel digestion and/or extraction, which hinder protein identification⁴⁴.

BN-PAGE was developed for determination of the mass and oligomeric state of mitochondrial membrane protein complexes^{67,70}. The method maintains enzyme activity and native protein-protein interactions due to use of mild detergents and a running pH of 7.5. The proteins are first solubilized in a mild, nonionic detergent (e.g. digitonin or Triton X-100) after which the anionic dye Coomassie brilliant blue G-250 is added. The Coomassie dye has a relatively poor solubility in water and therefore binds to the hydrophobic surfaces of the proteins. The net negative charge of the protein-dye complexes confers electrophoretic mobility, aqueous solubility and reduced aggregation. To further resolve the individual components of the protein complexes, a second dimension SDS-PAGE is added. BN-PAGE has been quite successful in the identification of integral membrane proteins from E. coli⁷¹ and rat mitochondria⁷².

In a doubled SDS-PAGE analysis, a low percentage (10 %) acrylamide gel is used for the first dimension and a high percentage one (16 %) is used for the second dimension. Hydrophobic proteins tend to migrate faster in the first dimension due to the binding of more SDS but approach normal migration rates in the higher concentration of the second dimension, resulting in a different migration pattern than hydrophilic proteins⁶⁸. This facilitates spot picking for subsequent identification analysis. The method has been used to identify proteins from synaptic vesicles⁷³ and mitochondria⁴².

Even though improvements have been made in the field of gel-based methods for detection of membrane proteins, problems still reside concerning labor-intensive and tedious workflow, limited number of proteins resolved (usually in the range of 100s) and inefficient protein identification.

1.3.2 Shotgun methods

It has become increasingly popular to use shotgun approaches where the proteins are digested into peptides followed by mass spectrometry based identification and quantification^{12,74} (figure 3).



Figure 3. Shotgun proteomic workflow.

One of the advantages of using the shotgun approach is that peptides are generally more soluble than proteins in aqueous environments. This is especially an advantage when analyzing membrane proteins. However, sample complexity becomes an even greater issue, when thousands of digested proteins yield several hundreds of thousands of peptides. In 2-DE, validation of protein identifications can be carried out by using p*I* and molecular weight, and this parameter is lost in shotgun experiments. However, methods exist to estimate the false discovery rates of the database searches⁷⁵.

Shotgun proteomics methods have successfully been used for the study of membrane proteins^{43,76-77}.

1.3.2.1 Membrane protein solubilization

The main issue concerning membrane proteins in shotgun approaches is protein solubilization. Keeping the proteins in solution without aggregation is essential for efficient enzymatic cleavage. The hydrophobic domains of membrane proteins resist exposure to aqueous solvents, causing aggregation, adsorption and precipitation which could lead to sample loss and incomplete digestion. Thus, one must choose reagents that maintain membrane protein solubility, without interfering with downstream analysis.

Solubilizing agents can be divided into chaotropes, detergents, organic solvents and organic acids. Chaotropes are strong denaturing agents that stabilize unfolded proteins via hydrogen bonds and electrostatic interactions $^{78-79}$. The most common ones are urea, thiourea and guanidium chloride. Thiourea is better than urea at breaking hydrophobic interactions why it is preferred for membrane protein solubilization, however it can inhibit proteases⁸⁰. Chaotropes do not interfere with standard LC-MS/MS analyses. Detergents are a class of amphipathic molecules containing both hydrophilic and hydrophobic domains. They can self-associate into micelles and bind to hydrophobic surfaces such as the TMDs of membrane proteins. Detergents are classified into four groups; linear-chain ionic, nonionic, bile acid and zwitterionic. Ionic detergents have a cationic or anionic head group attached to a hydrocarbon chain. The classic example of an anionic detergent is SDS, which is extremely efficient at solubilizing and denaturing proteins⁸¹. However, SDS can interfere with enzymatic digestion (by steric hindrance) and can be difficult to remove⁸². SDS may also interfere with LC analyses and suppress ionization by MALDI and ESI. Nonionic detergents have a polar head group and a hydrophobic tail. They disrupt lipid-lipid interactions and lipid-protein interactions, but are generally less efficient at disrupting protein-protein interactions, and because of this nonionic detergents are considered relatively mild detergents. Examples are Triton X-100, NP-40 and n-octyl glucoside (OG). In general, nonionic detergents at low concentrations are compatible with downstream analyses; however Triton X-100 tends to be problematic for MALDI and ESI. Bile acid salts are ionic detergents, but their conformation differs from the linear-chain ionic detergents. They are instead steroidal compounds, with a polar and apolar face, and they have less solubilizing capacities. However, an advantage of bile acids is that they precipitate at low pH and thus can be readily removed from solution prior to downstream analyses. Examples are sodium deoxycholate (SDC) and sodium cholate. Zwitterionic (both positively and negatively charged) detergents have intermediate properties with better solubilizing capacities than bile acids/nonionic detergents but not as good as the linear-chain ionic detergents. They do not interfere with trypsin digestion or ESI, but can suppress ionization by MALDI.

As already mentioned, many of the most powerful solubilizing agents are not compatible with downstream analyses⁸³. To circumvent this problem, MS-compatible detergents have been introduced. These include RapiGest (Waters)⁸⁴, PPS (Protein Discovery)⁸⁵ and Invitrosol (Invitrogen). RapiGest and PPS are acid-labile reagents which break down into non-interfering byproducts upon hydrolysis. Invitrosol exist in two variants, one MALDI-compatible and one LC/MS-compatible, where the first one do not interfere with peptide/protein analysis and the second one have orthogonal LC elution to most peptides. The MS-compatible detergents seem to perform relatively well at solubilizing membrane proteins in comparison with standard detergents.

Organic solvents are an alternative to detergents to facilitate enzymatic digestion. Due to their increased hydrophobicity relative water, they have stabilizing effects on nonpolar proteins that are unfolded. Organic solvents also have disruptive effects on the membrane and especially methanol has been proven to be efficient in aiding tryptic digestion of membrane proteins⁸⁶⁻⁸⁸. Organic solvents are directly compatible with downstream analyses and can be removed by evaporation, reducing potential sample loss.

Organic acids, e.g. formic acid (FA) or trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) can also disrupt membranes and solubilize membrane proteins. Usually, the membrane fraction is solubilized in 80-90 % organic acid and before digestion the sample is diluted to a more appropriate concentration for trypsin⁸⁹. Alternatively, other proteases are used for cleavage, e.g. cyanogen bromide (CNBr)¹²⁻¹³.

1.4 QUANTIFICATION AND DATA ANALYSIS

Different methods have been developed to obtain the abundances of the proteins that have been identified in a proteomic experiment. In a 2-DE experiment, the staining intensities of the gel spots are used for a relative comparison. In shotgun experiments, the methods for quantification are usually relative, meaning a comparison of peptides or proteins between experiments. Absolute measurement of protein concentrations by mass spectrometry is also possible by e.g. SRM (selected reaction monitoring).

Proteomic experiments often generate long lists of identified proteins and it can be very time-consuming to analyze the data. Therefore, programs and tools have been developed that enable visualization of the data in order to identify general trends and patterns. This kind of research is performed within the *bioinformatic* field. Bioinformatics is becoming increasingly important in aiding the proteomic investigators to extract the biological meanings of the experiments.

1.4.1 Quantification

In top-down proteomics, using e.g. MALDI-TOF MS, the quantification is based on the intensity of the peaks representing the proteins. The higher intensity, the more of the protein is expressed in that particular sample.

In bottom-up proteomic experiments, where the proteins have been digested into peptides, quantification is instead performed on a peptide level. This can be done in a label-free manor or by using some kind of labeling of the peptides. Label-free quantification is performed by either measuring the intensities of the peptide peaks generated in the chromatography step or by spectral counting in the MS step (see e.g.⁹⁰). Peptide labeling for quantification can be performed either *in vivo* by metabolic labeling during cell growth or *in vitro* after cell lysis. The *in vitro* labeling can be further divided into *enzymatic* or *chemical modification* labeling.

The most common type of metabolic labeling is SILAC (stable isotope labeling by amino acids in cell culture)⁹¹. In brief, two populations of cell culture are grown separately, one with growth medium containing normal amino acids and the other with heavy isotope labeled amino acids. The medium can for example contain arginine labeled with ¹³C instead of normal ¹²C. This labeled arginine is subsequently incorporated into all the proteins in those cells. The cells are then combined and analyzed together and relative quantification is performed by comparing the intensity of labeled and non-labeled peptides in the MS spectrum.

In enzymatic *in vitro* labeling, enzymes (Glu-C or trypsin) are used to incorporate ¹⁸O during protein digestion⁹²⁻⁹³. One drawback of this method is that not all peptides are labeled and hence the quantification becomes less reliable.

The most common chemical modification labeling techniques are ICAT⁹⁴ (isotopecoded affinity tag) and iTRAQ⁹⁵ (isobaric tags for relative and absolute quantification). In ICAT labeling, the cysteine residues are labeled with a mass tag containing either eight hydrogens (light reagent) or eight deuteriums (heavy reagent). After mixing and digestion, the cysteine-containing peptides are captured using avidin affinity chromatography. Since not all peptides contain cysteines, this will also reduce the sample complexity. iTRAQ labeling targets primary amines in the peptides; hence all tryptic peptides will contain at least one iTRAQ label at the N-terminus. However, since trypsin cleaves after arginine and lysine, both having a primary amine, most peptides will have an additional label. The iTRAQ labels are isobaric, i.e. they have the same mass, and they also have the same chromatographic properties. As a result, peptides labeled with different tags will co-elute in the LC step as well as give rise to one single peak in the first MS part. What distinguish the individual tags are their fragmentation patterns in the MS/MS part, giving rise to reporter ions of different masses that subsequently can be quantified (figure 4). At present, up to eight samples can be labeled and quantified in parallel using iTRAQ labels.



Figure 4. The iTRAQ isobaric tag consists of three groups; the peptide reactive group, the balance group and the reporter group. The reporter ions are used for quantification.

1.4.2 Statistics and Biological interpretation

The output from a proteomic experiment is not unusually a very long list of proteins with corresponding abundance data. To assist the data analysis, several statistical and bioinformatic tools are available.

To get an overview of the data and identify trends, groups or outliers, an *unsupervised* principal component analysis (PCA)⁹⁶ can be performed. In **papers III** and **IV**, this was done using Simca-P+ (Umetrics AB). In contrast, OPLS⁹⁷ (orthogonal projections to latent structures) is a *supervised* prediction method suitable when the number of variables (proteins) greatly exceeds the number of observations (samples). OPLS maximizes the covariance and correlation between x and y data (e.g. x being the protein id and quantity and y the disease state) and removes structured noise in the x data that is orthogonal (unrelated) to the response, y. Using OPLS, prediction models can be created and proteins responsible for separating two groups can be identified.

There are several software tools for functional analysis of proteomic data. Ingenuity pathway analysis (Ingenuity Systems), which was used in **papers III** and **IV**, can be used to organize proteins into networks and pathways. Other similar tools are DAVID⁹⁸, PANTHER⁹⁹, ProteinCenter (Proxeon) and FunCoup¹⁰⁰, where proteins are organized into groups of molecular functions, protein families, biological processes and pathways.

1.5 VALIDATION

In proteomic experiments, instrument time and sometimes reagents can be quite costly, why a limited number of samples can be included. This can be problematic from a statistical point of view and therefore validation of the findings is an important aspect. Usually a different technical platform is chosen and if possible more samples are included. Common techniques for validation are different immunoblotting methods, e.g. western blotting and immunohistochemistry (IHC). Western blotting is a wellestablished technique where the samples are first separated in a normal SDS-PAGE system after which the proteins are transferred to a membrane (e.g. nitrocellulose). The protein of interest is then probed with a primary antibody, recognizing only that protein, after which a secondary antibody (linked to a reporter enzyme) towards the primary antibody is used to enhance and visualize the protein-antibody complex. Western blotting is regarded as a semi-quantitative method. IHC is another established immunoblotting method to determine protein expression in a tissue. Here, information on protein expression levels comes together with information about the localization of the protein in the cells; i.e. if it is expressed in the nucleus, the cytoplasm or the membrane, and in what type of cells. Briefly, tissue sections are prepared and incubated with a primary antibody directed against the protein of interest, and subsequently with a secondary antibody directed against the primary antibody. In analogy with western blotting, the secondary antibody is linked to a reporter enzyme, which enables visualization. ELISA (enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay) is another immunoblotting technique frequently used.

Selected reaction monitoring (SRM) is a method for targeted quantitative analysis of peptides in cells or fluids¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰³. Usually a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer is utilized. In peptide SRM selected peptides are fragmented and specific fragments are used for quantification. In addition to validating the identification, an absolute measurement of the protein can be obtained by the use of stable isotope standards.

1.6 LUNG CANCER

Lung cancer is globally the most commonly diagnosed type of cancer and also the most common cause of cancer death¹⁰⁴. There are two major types of lung cancer with distinct clinical characteristics and behavior, namely small cell lung cancer (SCLC) and non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). SCLC, which is the type studied in **paper I**, represents approximately 15 % of lung cancer cases and is strongly induced by smoking. It is very aggressive and it has often already begun to spread to form distant metastases at the time of diagnosis. SCLC is highly sensitive to chemotherapy and radiotherapy, but after an initial response, resistant clones start growing and the disease rapidly progresses¹⁰⁵.

1.6.1 Chemotherapy and drug resistance

Cytotoxic drugs, or chemotherapy, usually targets DNA and are more or less unspecific in the sense that both cancer cells and normal cells are affected. It was the use of mustard gas and other chemical warfare agents during world wars I and II that initiated research on their possible therapeutic potentials. Soldiers exposed to these agents displayed decreased white blood cell counts and showed lymphotoxic symptoms¹⁰⁶. Mustine, a mustard gas analogue, was subsequently used in treatment of leukemia, and it was suggested that its mechanism of action was due to alkylation. Since then several cytotoxic drugs have been developed targeting DNA or associated processes. Apart from alkylating agents, cytotoxic drugs include antimetabolites (interfere with nucleotide metabolism), topoisomerase inhibitors (interfere with DNA replication), antitumor antibiotics (inhibit replication and/or induce cleavage of DNA) and tubulin interacting agents (inhibit mitosis and induce apoptosis).

Doxorubicin, an antitumor antibiotic, was originally isolated from bacteria, and it seems to have several cytotoxic effects. Through intercalation (fitting between base pairs in DNA) doxorubicin inhibits replication, but it has also been shown to act as a topoisomerase II inhibitor¹⁰⁷.

A major limitation in chemotherapy is that many tumors are resistant to specific cytotoxic drugs (primary resistance), or develop resistance during treatment (secondary resistance). Typical reasons for resistance are increased drug efflux, decreased drug uptake, increased drug metabolism, alteration of the drug target or resistance to apoptosis. Doxorubicin resistance in SCLC has been shown to be due to up-regulation of MRP1¹⁰⁸ (multidrug resistance-associated protein 1), however resistance to anthracyclines (e.g. Doxorubicin) is generally considered multi-factorial¹⁰⁹.

1.7 ADRENAL GLAND

The adrenal glands are named for their location relative to the kidneys. The term *adrenal* comes from *ad*- (Latin, "near") and *renes* (Latin, "kidney"). Sitting on top of the kidneys, they are endocrine glands mainly responsible for releasing hormones in conjunction with stress through the synthesis of corticosteroids such as cortisol and adrenaline. Adrenal glands affect kidney function through secretion of aldosterone, a hormone involved in blood pressure regulation. Each adrenal gland is separated into two structures, the *cortex* and the *medulla*, both of which produce hormones. The cortex mainly produces the steroid hormones cortisol, aldosterone and androgens, while the medulla produces adrenaline and noradrenaline. The cortex comprises three distinct regions; *zona glomerulosa, zona fasciculata* and *zona reticularis*. The first region produces aldosterone, while the second and the third regions produce cortisol. The cells that make up these three regions contain lipid droplets containing cholesterol, which can be converted into the steroid hormones.

Aldosterone controls the salt content of the body and by that also the blood pressure. The amount of aldosterone produced is controlled, in part, by a protein from the kidney, renin. When the blood pressure falls, the amount of renin is increased. Renin converts angiotensinogen to angiotensin I, which in turn is converted to angiotensin II. This results in increased aldosterone production from the adrenal cortex, which acts on the kidneys to retain more salt. The salt is followed by water, which results in increased blood volume, hence the blood pressure increases. *Cortisol* acts on cells in different tissues in influencing general metabolism, blood pressure and appetite. The amount of cortisol is controlled by the hormone ACTH (adrenocorticotrophic hormone), which is secreted by the pituitary gland. This secretion is in turn controlled by other hormones from the hypothalamus. The major stimulus to this sequence of hormone secretions is stress, and cortisol is therefore a key component of the "fight or flight" reaction in a moment of crisis.

The adrenal medulla is essentially a part of the sympathetic division of the autonomic nervous system. The main product of the cells in the medulla is *adrenaline*, which is involved in the "fight or flight" reaction alongside cortisol. More adrenaline is produced under stress, by sympathetic nerve stimulation. *Noradrenaline* is a neurotransmitter, and is also secreted by the medulla but in much smaller amounts.¹¹⁰

1.7.1 Adrenocortical tumors

Adrenocortical tumors, the focus of **paper III**, have a relatively high prevalence in the general population of up to 9 % in autopsy studies¹¹¹. However, malignancies are rare, with a yearly incidence of 2 per million inhabitants, but they have a poor prognosis¹¹². Recent advances in the bioimaging field together with the more frequent use of computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) have increased the number of detected adrenocortical tumors¹¹³. These accidentally discovered tumors are called adrenal incidentalomas and the majority of them are benign and non-functioning adenomas¹¹⁴. Distinguishing between adrenocortical carcinomas (ACCs) and adrenocortical adenomas (ACAs) can be difficult. In the clinical decision making, the tumor size and the CT Hounsfield measurements are the most important features in

determining if the tissue alteration is benign or malignant. Masses less than 3 cm in diameter are usually benign; by contrast, if the mass is larger than 6 cm the probability of malignancy increases ¹¹⁵. Masses measuring between 3 and 6 cm are uncertain and since early resection of ACCs is the best chance of survival, an accurate diagnosis of a small tumor is very important ¹¹⁵. All tumors with a diameter larger than 4 cm are recommended to be resected ¹¹⁶. There is a need for more sufficient diagnostic tools, both from a diagnostic point of view but also to avoid unnecessary abdominal surgery.

1.8 SARCOIDOSIS

Sarcoidosis, the disease studied in **paper IV**, commonly affects young and middle-aged adults and frequently presents with bilateral hilar lymphadenopathy, pulmonary infiltration, ocular and skin lesions. The liver, spleen, lymph nodes, salivary glands, heart, nervous system, muscles, bones and other organs may also be involved¹¹⁷.

Sarcoidosis is a systemic granulomatous inflammatory disease where the lungs are involved in 90% of the patients¹¹⁸. It is a multi-factorial disease where genetic as well as environmental factors are relevant¹¹⁹⁻¹²⁰. The clinical manifestations are heterogeneous and can be divided into two main groups. Patients with Löfgren's syndrome have an acute onset with erythema nodosum and/or ankle arthritis, fever and bilateral hilar lymphadenopathy, are often HLA-DRB1-03^{pos}, and usually resolve spontaneously¹²¹. On the other hand, non-Löfgren's patients, accounting for 65 % in Scandinavia, usually have an insidious onset of the disease with a prolonged disease course, especially when they are HLA-DRB1-14/15^{pos 122}.

Alveolar macrophages (AMs) are implicated in the pathogenesis of sarcoidosis through multiple functions. They act as antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and express costimulatory molecules such as CD40, CD80 and CD86 and interact with CD4 positive T-cells, stimulating adaptive responses $(Th1)^{123}$. IFN- γ and TNF- α produced by activated T-cells are essential for the formation of non-caseating granulomas, which is the hallmark of sarcoidosis¹²⁴.

The etiology of sarcoidosis is unknown, however some antigen candidates have been proposed as the cause of the disease, such as *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* antigen mKatG¹²⁵ and *Propionibacterium acne*¹²⁶⁻¹²⁷. Also autoimmunity responses to vimentin has been observed in sarcoidosis patients¹²⁸.

2 THE PRESENT STUDY

2.1 AIMS

The overall aim of this thesis was to develop a high throughput and reproducible method for proteomics on membrane proteins. The method had to be applicable to different materials since a downstream aim was to use the method to analyze clinical tissue in order to identify potential biomarkers or new therapeutic targets.

The specific aims were the following:

Paper I: To develop a membrane proteomics method, using cell line material.

Paper II: Explore the possibilities of using peptide pI and retention time data to increase the information content of proteomic investigations.

Paper III: Use the method developed in **paper I** on adrenocortical tumor tissue in order to shed light on the biology behind malignancy and to find markers that differentiate benign tumor from malignant.

Paper IV: Characterize and describe altered pathways in alveolar macrophages from Sarcoidosis patients, by looking at the membrane-associated protein population.

2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

A detailed description of the methods used can be found in each paper (I-IV). A brief description and comments are presented below.

2.2.1 Cell and tissue samples

In papers I-II two human cell lines were used; the SCLC cell lines H69 and H69AR. H69AR cells were incubated with 0.8 µM Doxorubicin twice monthly in order to maintain the resistant phenotype. The cells were cultured in humidified air in incubators under controlled conditions with a temperature of 37°C and at 5 % CO₂. In paper II, two different samples were used for the investigations of retention time effects. One was a dog plasma sample consisting of the supernatant from acetonitrile precipitated plasma and the second sample was a commercial human liver microsome preparation. In **paper III**, adrenocortical tumor tissue samples were used. The tumor tissue analyzed contained more than 70% tumor cells. Diagnostic criteria for malignancy were vascular invasion, invasion of surrounding organs and/or presence of distant metastasis. In cases where these criteria were not fulfilled the histopathological criteria proposed by Weiss was used¹²⁹. Cases with high nuclear grade, increased mitotic figures and tumor necrosis were suspected to be malignant. In paper IV, bronchoscopy was performed on eight sarcoidosis patients within three months after onset of symptoms, as part of the initial diagnostic routine investigation, and on six healthy controls, as previously described¹³⁰. The diagnostic criteria for sarcoidosis patients were in accordance with the WASOG criteria¹¹⁸: in line with sarcoidosis were symptoms, chest radiographic changes and pulmonary function tests, as well as the presence of granulomas in lung biopsies, and an increased CD4/CD8 rate 3.5 on BAL T-cells. Alveolar macrophages were isolated from BAL cells by PercollTM two phase density gradient $\rho_1 = 1.062$ g/ml and $\rho_2 = 1.08$ g/ml.

2.2.2 Microsomal preparation

Microsomes were prepared from both cells (**papers I, II, IV**) and tissue (**paper III**). Briefly, cell- or tissue homogenates were sonicated to break the cells and after a low-speed centrifugation they were subjected to ultracentrifugation at 100 000 x g for 1 h at 4°C to pellet the microsomes. Membrane-associated proteins were separated from integral membrane proteins by a high salt wash (2.5 M NaBr). The microsomal fractions were precipitated according to the method described by Wessel and Flügge⁵⁴. Proteins were then solubilized in a buffer containing SDS.

2.2.3 Digestion and iTRAQ labeling

Proteins were digested by trypsin after dilution of the SDS concentration. Peptides were then labeled with iTRAQ; in **papers I-II** a 4-plex kit was used and in **papers III-IV** an 8-plex kit was used. This means that either four or eight samples can be labeled and pooled into one sample. In **papers III-IV**, an internal standard was included to be able to compare samples across experiments. This was done by pooling aliquots from the individual samples to one pooled standard, which was iTRAQ labeled and included in each iTRAQ experiment.

2.2.4 Isoelectric focusing

In all papers (I-IV), the peptides were separated by narrow range isoelectric focusing (IEF). Tryptic peptide samples were dissolved in 8 M urea. Narrow range IPG-strips for peptide focusing (pH 3.4 - 4.8 or 3.7 - 4.9, 24 cm long) together with dry sample application gels were kindly supplied by GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences AB, Uppsala, Sweden. The application gels were rehydrated in sample over night while the strips were rehydrated over night in 8 M urea and 1 % Pharmalyte[™] 2.5-5. The IPG strips were put in the focusing tray and the application gels containing the samples were placed on the anodic end of the IPG strips with filter paper between the application gels and the electrodes. The strips were covered with mineral oil and the focusing was performed until 100 kVh had been reached. After focusing, peptides were extracted from the strips by a prototype liquid handling robot, kindly supplied by GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences AB. A plastic device with 72 wells was put onto each strip and MQ water was added to each well. After 30 minutes incubation, the liquid was transferred to a 96 well plate and the extraction was repeated 2 more times. Samples were then freeze dried and kept at -20 °C. Prior to analysis, each fraction was re-suspended in 8 µl 3% acetonitrile and 0.1% formic acid.

2.2.5 LC-MS/MS analyses

2.2.5.1 LC-MALDI-TOF/TOF

In **papers I-II**, the LC-MS/MS set-up was an off-line LC system coupled to a MALDI spotter. The samples were subsequently analyzed using an ABI 4800 MALDI-TOF/TOF. Briefly, fractions from the IEF analysis were further fractionated by nanoLC chromatography, using a monolithic column. Monolithic columns have lower back pressure than traditional C18 columns, hence higher flow-rates and shorter gradient times can be used. The LC system was coupled to a MALDI spotter onto which fractions were automatically spotted together with matrix solution (CHCA). The MALDI-TOF/TOF mass spectrometer was set to perform data acquisition in the mass range of 700-4000 m/z. In each MS spectrum, maximum 10-15 peptides were chosen (only peptides above a set S/N threshold, usually 80-100) for fragmentation, starting with the strongest peptide.

2.2.5.2 LC-Q-TOF MS

In **paper II**, retention time analyses were performed on a UPLC-QTOF Ultima Global instrument combination. UPLC (ultra performance LC) enables faster separations with maintained separation and resolution capabilities due to small particle size in the columns ($<2 \mu m$).

2.2.5.3 LC-Orbitrap MS

In **papers III-IV**, the set-up was a nanoLC-Orbitrap MS system. Fractions from the IEF separation was loaded onto an Agilent HPLC 1200 system for online reversed-phase nano-LC using a C18 column. Acquisition in the MS system proceeded in ~3.5 s scan cycles. The top 5 ions from the full scan MS were selected firstly for collision induced dissociation (CID) with MS/MS detection in the ion trap, and finally for high energy collision dissociation (HCD) with MS/MS detection in the Orbitrap.

2.2.6 Data analysis and statistics

In **papers I-II**, peptide identification was carried out using the Paragon algorithm ¹³¹ in the ProteinPilot 2.0 software package. The searches were performed against the IPI database or NCBI non-redundant, limited to human sequences. In **papers III-IV**, the MS/MS spectra were searched by Mascot 2.2 using Proteome Discoverer 1.1 against the IPI human target decoy protein sequence database.

2.2.6.1 Membrane protein database

To evaluate membrane protein content, an in-house database was built and searched against. This database was constructed by first extracting all translated human sequences from ENSEMBL and then tagging them according to number of transmembrane segments predicted using the TMHMM algorithm⁵⁸. The sequences were tagged with 0 tms, 1 tms or 2 + tms.

2.2.6.2 pI predictions

In **papers I-II**, the peptide pI values were predicted using an algorithm kindly provided by Stephenson *et al*¹⁷. It was previously observed that deamidation of Asn and Gln (i.e. conversion to Asp and Glu, respectively) renders peptides significantly more acidic and they thus show up as outliers in p*I*-plots¹³². Before calculating the theoretical p*I* values, an in-house script was used to convert the Asn \rightarrow Asp and Gln \rightarrow Glu, where appropriate.

2.2.6.3 Retention time predictions

In **paper II**, retention time predictions were performed using SSRCalc (available at http://hs2.proteome.ca/SSRCalc/SSRCalc33B.html). In order to use SSRCalc online, one has to trim the equation according to the LC-system and gradient used. This can be done in different ways, where one is to use a digest of a known protein (e.g. BSA), extract the experimental retention times of identified peptides and plot these against the hydrophobicities of the peptides (calculated in the SSRCalc). From this dependence, $RT=A+B^*(HP)$, the A and B parameters are determined where A is the gradient delay time and B is a value related to the slope of the acetonitrile gradient. The A and B parameters are then used in the SSRCalc program, together with information about column properties, to predict retention times of other identified peptides in any runs under the same conditions. Using 31 identified BSA peptides (Mascot scores above 30) we determined the A and B parameters for our system. Plotting observed retention times against predicted, we could see a linear correlation with a R^2 value of 0.93, indicating adequate predicting of the SSRCalc algorithm.

2.2.6.4 Statistics

Univariate data analysis (**papers III-IV**) was carried out using Significance Analysis of Microarrays (SAM)¹³³, version 3.09, as an Excel add-in. SAM uses permutations of the repeated measurements to estimate the percentage of genes/proteins identified by chance, the false discovery rate (FDR). Multivariate data analysis was carried out using Simca-P+ (see section **1.4.2**).

2.2.7 Western blot and immunohistochemistry

For validation of identified deregulated proteins (**papers I, III**), western blot and immunohistochemical (IHC) analyses were performed. For western blot, proteins were first separated on a SDS-PAGE, transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane after which the protein(s) of interest were probed with antibodies. IHC analyses in **paper III** were performed on tissue that was fixed routinely in 4% formaldehyde buffered solution and paraffin embedded. All adrenal tumors were studied by routine histochemical staining i.e. haematoxylin and eosin staining. To perform immunohistochemical analysis tissue sections were cut at 4 μ m, deparaffinized and rehydrated. Antigen retrieval by heating in citrate buffer was performed to obtain a distinct signal without interfering background. All antibodies were tested at different dilution with and without antigen retrieval technique. As positive controls, tissue samples from pancreatic gland (NDUFA13/GRIM-19) and normal adrenal gland (STAT-3) were used. Negative controls were performed by replacing the primary antibody with phosphate buffer.

2.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

2.3.1 Microsomal preparation

To develop a reproducible high-throughput method for maximal coverage of the membrane proteome, we aimed to keep the number of sample preparation steps to a minimum. Therefore, we used a microsomal fractionation technique that should also be applicable to different samples, e.g. cells and tissues. The experimental workflow is outlined in figure 5. In short, the sample at hand was first homogenized with appropriate method after which it was sonicated to break up the cells and the membranes. The membranes will then form vesicles, i.e. microsomes. The homogenate was first centrifuged at low speed to remove cell debris, after which an ultracentrifugation at 100 000 x g was performed to pellet the microsomes were then washed with high salt buffer (2.5 M NaBr) to remove loosely attached proteins (membrane-associated proteins, MAP). A second ultracentrifugation was performed to pellet the membrane (microsomal) proteins (MP). The microsomal fraction predominately contained ER membranes, and to some extent membranes from Golgi, mitochondria and plasma membrane.

2.3.2 Delipidation, solubilization and digestion

The next step in the preparation was to remove lipids, which can interfere with the enzymatic digestion. This was done by using chloroform/methanol precipitation⁵⁴, one of the most widely used methods, whereby lipids will partition into the chloroform layer and proteins will precipitate at the chloroform/methanol interface.

Before digestion, the microsomal proteins are solubilized in a buffer containing detergent. Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), the detergent of our choice, is the classic example of a detergent. It is an anionic detergent, meaning it has an anionic head group attached to a hydrocarbon chain. SDS is extremely efficient at solubilizing proteins but it has drawbacks concerning downstream applications. It is not compatible with liquid chromatography (LC) analyses and it can suppress ionization by MALDI and ESI. In our case, however, this was not a problem since we digest and clean the sample before these analyses. The microsomal proteins were digested using trypsin. The SDS concentration was first reduced to 0.1 %, to keep trypsin in an active form.

2.3.3 iTRAQ labeling

The digested samples were labeled with iTRAQ. In **paper I**, the 4-plex kit was used; two samples from the sensitive cell line and two samples from the resistant cell line. In **papers III and IV**, the 8-plex kit was instead used. Since we had 14 samples in each of these studies, two iTRAQ labeling sets were used per study and in each one we included an internal standard. The internal standard samples were created by pooling equal amounts from each individual sample, and the iTRAQ reporter intensities were normalized using the intensity of the internal standard. This way it was possible to compare samples even if they were run in different iTRAQ labeled pools. The samples

were cleaned by SCX after labeling to remove iTRAQ reagents and this step also removed most of the SDS.



Figure 5. Experimental workflow.

2.3.4 Reproducibility of the microsomal preparation

To evaluate the technical reproducibility of the microsomal preparation, protein concentration in the resulting fractions was measured. This showed high reproducibility with low coefficients of variance (CVs); 5 % for the total protein fraction, 3 % for the soluble protein fraction, 13 % for the MAP fraction and 6 % for the microsomal protein fraction, see Fig 2 in **paper I**. The reproducibility concerning protein composition was also investigated. The majority of the CVs were below 30 % and CVs above 30 % predominantly came from ions of low intensity which may explain the larger variation. The reported variation originates from technical and experimental variation, including differences in iTRAQ-labeling efficiencies, previously reported to be approximately 12 % ¹³⁴.

2.3.5 Membrane protein content

In paper I and paper III, the microsomal protein (MP) fractions were analyzed. In **paper IV**, we instead analyzed the membrane-associated protein (MAP) fraction. The proportion of predicted integral membrane proteins ranged from 15 % (paper I) to ~22 % (paper III). The predictions were based on searches against an in-house database which was constructed by first extracting all translated human sequences from ENSEMBL and then tagging them according to number of transmembrane segments predicted using the TMHMM algorithm⁵⁸. The sequences were tagged with 0 tms (transmembrane segments), 1 tms or 2+ tms. The tags were divided into 1 and 2+ (two or more segments) to avoid assigning signal peptides as transmembrane segments. Proteins have a signal peptide in the beginning of their sequences directing them to the correct localization in the cell and this signal peptide is often of hydrophobic character. The proteins tagged with 1 tms were consequently considered as more uncertain membrane proteins. In paper I we also used ProteinCenter to analyze the data and then the reported proportion of membrane proteins were 48 %. ProteinCenter uses TMAP¹³⁵ in single sequence mode for prediction of membrane proteins. The original TMAP algorithm utilizes multiply aligned sequences for the predictions and when using TMAP on only a single sequence, the accuracy decreases, and it is therefore likely that the 48 % found is falsely too high. The total numbers of identified membrane proteins were 527 and 743 in paper I and paper III, respectively. Approximately 50 % of them contained more than two transmembrane segments. The proportion membrane proteins (~15-20 %) might seem low but one has to remember that these proteins are difficult to study for reasons discussed in the Background section. The preparation technique used here (microsomal enrichment) yields vesicles formed from all types of membranes in the cell (predominately ER membrane). These vesicles most probably contain trapped soluble proteins and since these are already in solution, they are easier to process. The membrane proteins need first to be solubilized for trypsin to get access for cleavage. By comparison, the predicted membrane protein content of an unfractionated sample was estimated to be 10 %; only ~3 % was predicted to contain more than 2 tms (data not shown), which means that by enrichment with our developed method, an increase of integral membrane proteins by ~300 % is reached.

The number of identified membrane proteins in **papers I and III** is comparable to other studies where similar approaches have been used. Scherl *et al* had, when using a similar membrane preparation technique on cultures of *Staphyococcus aureus*, a membrane protein content of 20 % ¹³⁶. Another study on vascular endothelial cells identified 43 % membrane-associated proteins ¹³⁷. This estimate was based on GO annotations, however it is difficult to decipher which GO terms have been used. Further, the term membrane-associated indicates that maybe not all proteins contained transmembrane segments per se, but can include peripheral membrane proteins as well. A characterization of the rat liver membrane proteome identified ~40 % predicted membrane proteins; approximately 50 % of these were predicted to contain more than two TMD's⁸⁸. However, since there were fewer proteins identified (~1600), the number of membrane proteins was lower. Also, methanol-assisted digestion was employed, which hinders direct comparison of the methods.

2.3.6 Peptide fractionation

We employed narrow range (pH $\sim 3.5 - \sim 4.9$) peptide isoelectric focusing (IEF) as the first dimension separation step before a standard liquid chromatography (LC) separation step. We showed that by doing this, the sample complexity was reduced since only about a third of all theoretical tryptic peptides focus in this pH range (figure 5A). However, approximately 96 % of all human proteins were represented by at least one peptide. This reduction in complexity is a great advantage when working with lowabundant proteins like membrane proteins. Recently, Chick et al performed a study on membrane protein enriched samples from rat liver using a similar approach with isoelectric focusing as a first separation step⁸⁸. They identified 626 proteins containing at least one transmembrane segment by using a pH 3 - 10 focusing strip sectioned into 24 fractions which were all analyzed by nano LC-MS/MS. The fact that approximately the same number of membrane proteins was identified by our approach (~500 in paper I and ~700 in paper III) using a much smaller pH interval (4.0 - 4.5) compared to their broad pH range supports the idea to use narrow pH range in the focusing step. Further, this raises the question if an even narrower pH range would enable a deeper analysis into the (membrane) proteome. For the human proteome, even a pH-range as small as 0.1 pH-units hold a considerable number of tryptic peptides (figure 5C). It must be stressed that plotted in figure 4 is a minimalistic estimation as the pI prediction was done using only fully tryptic, non-modified peptides. As recently shown, the complexity of proteome-wide tryptic digests may be far higher than theoretical enzyme cleavage predictions estimates^{101,138}. Based on these facts, and given the high resolution demonstrated in paper I, it is clear that the use of pH-gradients <1.0 - 1.5 pH-units presents an important area of future research.



Figure 6. A plot of the predicted pI distribution among human tryptic peptides (included are peptides of lengths 4–60 amino acid residues, allowing for no missed cleavages). Approximately one third of the peptides have pI values between 3.5 and 4.5. (A) shows the distribution over 7 pH units, (B) over 1.5 pH units, (C) over 0.4 pH units and (D) over 0.05 pH units. X-axis defines the pI and on the y-axis the peptide count. The bar below the x-axis indicates the range covered in each subsequent plot.

2.3.6.1 Separation efficiency of IEF

To evaluate the efficiency of the IEF separation, the extent of overlap between consecutive fractions was investigated. First, extracted ion chromatograms of three randomly chosen precursors from the MALDI-MS run of all 72 IEF were generated (Fig 6 in **paper I**). As can be seen, precursors were observed in two or maximum three neighboring fractions. To evaluate the separation efficiency further, all peptides in three consecutive fractions were compared and peptides occurring in more than one fraction were identified. 8 % was found in both two fractions and less than 1 % was found in all three fractions (data not shown). This indicates a highly efficient separation for a complex peptide sample.

2.3.7 pl and retention time predictions

The IEF separation technique provides information about the p*I* of the peptides and this can be used to validate the peptide sequences matched to MS/MS spectra. The theoretical p*I* values of the peptides assigned with a confidence score ≥ 90 % were calculated using an algorithm kindly provided by Stephenson et al^{17,139}. Figure 5 in **paper I** shows the distribution of calculated p*I* values of the peptides identified in one fraction analyzed by LC-MS/MS. Given adequate focusing and a well-performing prediction algorithm, all peptides in the fraction should have similar p*I* values. Indeed, the bulk peptide population of a representative fraction showed a standard deviation of 0.05 p*I* units. However, a few peptides showed deviating p*I* values. When examining these peptides in more detail, it was observed that most of them were modified. As the peptide p*I* calculation is done for non-modified sequences, peptides which have a shifted p*I* due to a post-translational modification will show up as outliers. The work from **paper I** encouraged us to further explore the properties of narrow range peptide isoelectric focusing (IEF) as a separation strategy. In paper II we wanted to explore the possibilities of using a combination of narrow range peptide IEF and reversed phase chromatography to increase the information content of a proteomic analysis. Using the data generated in **paper I** for the peptide p*I* analysis and data from dog plasma and in vitro human liver microsomes for retention time analysis, experimental and predicted values for peptide pI and retention time were compared and general trends of peptide pI shifts, as well as shifts in retention time, induced by common modifications were analyzed. We observed that deamidations of glutamine and asparagines shift peptide pI by approximately 1.5 pI units, making the peptides more acidic. Additionally, a novel pI shift (+~0.4 pI units) was found associated with dethiomethyl Met modifications. Further, oxidation of methionine shortened the retention time of the modified peptides with 0.7 - 3.0 min (15 peptides; mean value 1.3 min), formylation at the N-terminus increased the retention time with $0.6 - 5.9 \min (10)$ peptide pairs; mean value 2.8 min) and conversion of glutamate to pyro-glutamate prolonged the retention time with 2.5 - 7.1 min (4 peptide pairs; mean value 3.9 min).

2.3.7.1 Possible applications

To be able to use the predicted pI and retention time values, one relies heavily on the prediction algorithms at hand. While the behavior of non-modified fully tryptic peptides can be predicted with high accuracy in terms of both pI^{17-18} and retention time ¹⁴⁰⁻¹⁴¹, post-translationally modified peptides have been less explored. Recent work has been presented on extending the functionality of pI-prediction algorithms to include PTMs¹⁴². Future efforts to improve such algorithms and open modification search engines can only benefit from the degree of accuracy provided using narrow range IPG-IEF. An attractive application could be to use mass - pI - retention time filtering as a strategy for database reduction prior to open modification searches that is independent of MS/MS data acquisition. In such a strategy, a candidate list of protein accessions would be obtained by calculating which candidate peptide sequences fit in the recorded and calculated mass, pI and retention time windows. Such an approach could also take into consideration the most common modifications and amino acid alterations (Table 1 in **paper II**).

2.3.8 Lung cancer resistance mechanisms

In **paper I**, a small cell lung cancer cell line resistant to the cytotoxic drug Doxorubicin (H69AR) was analyzed and compared with its sensitive parental cell line (H69). Drug resistance is often associated with up-regulation of membrane-associated drug efflux systems and resistance to Doxorubicin has been shown to in part be due to an up-regulation of multidrug resistance-associated protein 1 (MRP1), which is one of the most important members of the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) protein family¹⁰⁸. ABC transporters are transmembrane proteins that utilize the energy of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) hydrolysis to carry out certain biological processes including translocation of various substrates across membranes and non-transport-related processes such as translation of RNA and DNA repair¹⁴³.

In our study, 48 proteins were found to be more than a 2-fold differentially expressed between the two cell lines. One of them, Serca 2, was found to be down-regulated in the resistant cell line and this was validated by western blot analyses, fig 8 in paper I. Serca 2 is a Ca^{2+} pump with 10 transmembrane segments located in the ER membrane, responsible for pumping Ca^{2+} into the ER lumen. Sensitivity to apoptosis correlates with the total ER Ca^{2+} load and depends on the ability of cells to transfer Ca^{2+} from the ER to the mitochondria¹⁴⁴. Ca^{2+} levels in the ER play an important role in the cell's ability to undergo apoptosis and down-regulation of the enzyme responsible for the influx of Ca^{2+} into the ER may contribute to the resistance phenotype of H69AR cells. Several cytoskeletal proteins were found to be up-regulated in the resistant cell line. These include plectin, vimentin and moesin. This could suggest a more rigid structure of these cells, making them less sensitive to environmental stress. Desmoplakin was down-regulated in H69AR. This protein is a component of desmosomes, intercellular junctions that tightly link adjacent cells. When culturing the cells, the resistant cells were less prone to grow in aggregates than the sensitive cells and this could be due to the down-regulation of desmoplakin.

2.3.9 Adrenocortical tumors

In **paper III**, the microsomal proteins of eight ACCs and six ACAs were analyzed. In an initial supervised prediction analysis, one of the ACCs clustered with the ACAs. Since this had been observed when performing microarray studies on the same material¹⁴⁵, this sample was removed from the subsequent analyses. Pathway analysis revealed that many proteins belonging to complex I in the mitochondrial respiratory chain (MRC) were down-regulated in ACCs compared to ACAs. A t-test was performed to identify significantly deregulated proteins and 69 were found to be up- or down-regulated. Aldolase A was up-regulated in ACCs compared to ACAs. This is a glycolytic enzyme responsible for the cleavage of the six-carbon sugar fructose 1,6biphosphate into the two three-carbon fragments glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate (GAP) and dihydroxyacetone phosphate (DHAP). This, together with the down-regulation of complex I proteins, indicates a metabolic shift in the ACCs where the glycolysis rate is higher and the MRC activity lower. This is known as the Warburg effect and is readily used in the clinic with the application of the imaging technique positron-emission tomography (PET) using the glucose analogue tracer ¹⁸fluorodeoxyglucose (FdG).

IGF2 was up-regulated in ACCs and this is in agreement with several other studies on adrenocortical tumors¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁴⁸. The IGF2 gene is imprinted and is only expressed from the paternal allele. In the same region as IGF2, there are two other imprinted genes, H19 and p57Kip2 which are expressed only from the maternal allele. The reason for IGF2 overexpression in ACCs is often that there is a loss of heterozygosity and/or loss of imprinting, i.e. the paternal allele is expressed in two copies or the imprinting of the maternal allele is lost. This means that not only is IGF2 expression increased but the expression of the two other genes, H19 and p57Kip2 is lost or reduced. Since H19 is thought to be a tumor suppressor gene and p57Kip2 acts as a suppressor of cell cycle progression, this will further drive the tumorigenesis ¹⁴⁹⁻¹⁵⁰. IGF2 has affinity for both receptors IGF1R and IGF2R¹⁵¹. Upon binding to IGF1R, the receptor tyrosine kinase activity is triggered, which leads to phosphorylation of itself and its major substrate, the insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1). Phosphorylated IRS-1 can activate the Ras/Raf/MAPK and PI3-kinase/Akt pathways, and depending on the cell type, stimulate proliferation, differentiation, or both¹⁵². PI3-kinase activation can lead to antiapoptotic signals, and components of this pathway are frequently amplified or mutated in cancers ¹⁵³. Elevated expression levels of IGF2 have been found in several cancer forms such as colorectal carcinoma¹⁵⁴.

One of the complex I proteins that was identified as down-regulated in ACCs was NDUFA13, also named GRIM-19 (Gene associated with **R**etinoic- and **I**nterferoninduced **M**ortality-19). GRIM-19 is a mitochondrial protein involved in complex I assembly and activity and is required for electron transfer activity ¹⁵⁵. It has been shown that GRIM-19 deficient mouse blastocysts had alterations in the mitochondrial structure, morphology and cellular distribution¹⁵⁶. Dysfunctional mitochondria could lead to inability of the cells to undergo mitochondria-mediated apoptosis. In our mass spectrometry data we did not see a complete loss of GRIM-19 expression, but a 2-fold difference in expression when comparing ACAs and ACCs. The identification and quantification of GRIM-19 was based on 2 peptides, one at position 61-68 and the other at position 70-81. Interestingly, western blot analyses could not detect any GRIM-19 at all in the malignant tissue (fig 6B in **paper III**). This could of course be due to sensitivity issues of the anti-GRIM-19 antibody or that the protein is completely lost but it could also suggest a defective protein, as suggested in¹⁵⁷. He et al report of an alternatively spliced GRIM-19 in kidney cancer tissue, resulting in a longer transcript with a premature stop codon after exon 3. This could lead to a truncated protein. The antibody used in our study recognizes the full-length protein and the reason for the absent signal in the western blot analyses could be inability of the antibody to recognize any modified form of the protein.

Four benign tissues and four malignant tissues were evaluated for GRIM-19 expression with immunohistochemical methods. In the benign samples the expression patterns were grain-like (figure 7A). On the contrary, in the malignant samples there was a more general cytoplasmic staining pattern (figure 7B). This suggests a mitochondrial localization in ACAs and that this localization may have been lost in the ACCs, either due to loss of the protein or loss of functional protein. To check a possible role of STAT3 regulation by GRIM-19, STAT3 was analyzed by immunohistochemistry in the same tissues (figures 7C-D). There were no obvious differences between the benign and malignant tissues concerning STAT3 expression levels, but an indication of stronger staining in nuclei was observed for the malignant tissue, suggesting STAT3 relocalization (figure 7D). In some cells in the benign tissue, a grain-like expression pattern was observed; the same could not be seen in the malignant tissue (figure 7E). This could indicate a STAT3 mitochondrial localization in ACAs.

There could be a link between elevated expression levels of IGF2 and aldolase A and decreased expression of/non-functional GRIM-19. Activation of growth factor receptors leads to PI3K activation, which via AKT leads to increased glucose uptake and flux through the early part of glycolysis¹⁵⁸⁻¹⁵⁹. Additionally, tyrosine kinases, a common feature of oncogenes, can inhibit the later part of glycolysis through regulation of the M2 isoform of pyruvate kinase¹⁶⁰ and thereby intermediates of glycolysis can be used for amino acid and nucleotide synthesis. The reason for increased glycolysis in the ACCs examined in this study could be due to a combination of impaired mitochondrial function, due to down-regulation or loss of functional GRIM-19, and activation of growth factor receptors through IGF2 signaling.

In summary, by analyzing the microsomal protein composition of ACAs and ACCs, we observe a reduced expression of GRIM-19 in ACCs. It is not clear at this point if it is a down-regulation *per se* or a loss of functional GRIM-19, however indications point towards a re-localization of the protein, from mitochondria to the cytoplasm, and this re-localization could be due to a modified form of the protein in ACCs. Studies are ongoing to confirm this hypothesis. Loss of functional or re-localized GRIM-19 could lead to dysfunctional mitochondria and STAT3 hyperactivation, which in turn could drive the tumorigenesis in ACCs. Further, we observe an increased glycolysis rate in ACCs, which also, in part, could be caused by dysfunctional mitochondria. However, the reason for the shift in metabolism is most probably multi-factorial, where e.g. hypoxia also could play a role. IGF2, identified as up-regulated in ACCs by us and others, may contribute to this metabolic shift, which increases proliferation of tumor cells.

Benign

Malignant



Benign

Malignant



Figure7. Immunohistochemical analyses with anti-GRIM-19 (panels A and B) and anti-STAT3 (panels C-E). GRIM-19 staining in ACAs had a grain-like pattern, suggesting mitochondrial localization (panel A). In ACCs there was a more cytoplasmic staining (panel B). There was an indication of nuclear staining of STAT3 in ACCs (panel D), which was not observed in ACAs (panel C). Some cells in ACAs showed a grain-like staining pattern for STAT3 (panel E).

2.3.10 Sarcoidosis

In **paper IV**, we enriched for membrane-associated proteins from alveolar macrophages from eight sarcoidosis patients and six healthy controls. Alveolar macrophages were isolated from bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) cells. By applying a shotgun proteomics approach on the MAP fraction, we obtained the protein profile on lung macrophages and a total of 1650 proteins were identified and relative quantitation was obtained on 423 proteins by using iTRAQ labeling. A PCA plot showed group clustering for sarcoidosis and controls, figure 3 in paper IV. The two clusters among the sarcoidosis patients can be explained by their diagnosis; non-Löfgren or Löfgren disease. An orthogonal projections to latent structures (OPLS) analysis was performed with healthy versus diseased. Proteins that had a small influence were removed iteratively to create a new predictive model. Accordingly, we reduced the number of proteins from 423 to 13 in a model with a predictability value $Q^2 = 0.718$ ($Q^2 > 0.45$ cut off to be considered as a good model) and a p-value of 0.0009 (figure 7 and table 2 in **paper IV**). Three of the proteins are involved in endocytic transport; MP1 (mitogenactivated protein kinase scaffold protein 1), C11orf59 and RAB7A. MP1 and C11orf59 are part of a protein complex called the Ragulator complex. This complex is anchored to lipid rafts in late endosome membranes via C11orf59, recruits mTORC1 to lysosomal membranes in amino acid signalling and is also involved in MAPK signalling¹⁶¹. Additionally, RAB7A has a role in the maturation of phagosomes¹⁶². One of the proteins is involved in host-virus interactions. i.e. complement component 1 Q subcomponent-binding protein¹⁶³. The rest of the proteins in the OPLS model are involved in DNA repair, alcohol metabolism, protein folding and ribosomal activity.

Pathway analysis showed that energy-related (ATP synthesis), as well as phagocytosis pathways were altered. The oxidative phosphorylation pathway (p-value 1.02E-10) showed a down-regulation in sarcoidosis at the level of complex I, III, IV and partially V from the mitochondrial respiration system. The lungs are exposed to oxidants either endogenously, e.g. from the mitochondrial electron transport or during phagocytosis, or by exogenous pollutants. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) include a variety of radicals; e.g. superoxide anion (O_2), hydroxyl radical (OH) and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2). Redox imbalance, which can be caused by increased ROS formation, is associated with chronic inflammation in several lung disorders; COPD¹⁶⁴, asthma¹⁶⁵, acute lung injury, lung fibrosis and cancer ¹⁶⁶. High concentration of ROS can trigger tissue damage and changes in signal transduction. Studies have shown that imbalance in redox status leads to activation of NFkB where ROS are directly implicated as second messengers by regulating ubiquitination and degradation of Ik β^{167} . In addition, it has been reported that the high exposure to oxidants induce mitochondrial dysfunction in the lungs ¹⁶⁸ by oxidative damaged macromolecules (oxidatively dysfunctional proteins) which leads to increased protein degradation and dysfunction in mitochondria.

The pyruvate metabolism pathway (p-value 7.45E-09) was up-regulated in the sarcoidosis group. Pyruvate has been shown to be an endogenous anti-inflammatory molecule by protecting cells from ROS and suppressing both TNF- α secretion and NF- κ B expression ¹⁶⁹. The up-regulation of pyruvate metabolism that we observe could be

an effect of mitochondrial dysfunction and ROS formation which leads to an upregulation of endogenous pyruvate in order to protect the cells.

Additionally, in the results from the pathway analyses we could observe an upregulation in phagocytosis related pathways in sarcoidosis, e.g. the Fc γ receptormediated phagocytosis in macrophages (p-value 1.47E-05) and the Clathrin-mediated endocytosis signaling (p-value 9.64E-09) (figure 7), both in Löfgren and non-Löfgren sarcoidosis patients. Macrophages have several phagocytotic mechanisms; for instance they can be initiated by the Fc γ receptor (Fc γ R) which was found up-regulated in sarcoidosis. The Fc region from IgG binds to FcR on AMs and initiates the phagocytosis. This mechanism mediates internalization of pathogens (bacteria, virus and parasites) into membrane-derived vacuoles and phagosome system which finally leads to degradation of pathogens and the presentation of specific antigens to memory T-cells in the lungs¹⁷⁰. Activation of FcR by IgG opsonised particles induce phosphorylation of tyrosines in ITAM (immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif) on the FcR which leads to recruitment of other proteins such as phosphatase Src and 5'PI downstream in signaling¹⁷¹. The FcR mediates signal transductions that regulate production of ROS, modulate actin cytoskeleton¹⁷², and membrane fusion¹⁷³.

In summary, we report down-regulation of pathways related to the mitochondrial respiration system, which could lead to an imbalance in the oxidative homeostasis, in turn triggering ROS formation in sarcoidosis patients. This down-regulation was true only for non-Löfgren patients and this could in part explain their unresolved inflammation and prolonged disease course. The up-regulation of pathways related to pyruvate metabolism may be due to the cells trying to protect themselves from the increased ROS formation. We also observed up-regulation in phagocytosis-related pathways in sarcoidosis, which could be pathogen-mediated mechanisms of the alveolar macrophages.

2.4 GENERAL CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The overall aim of this thesis was to develop a proteomic method suitable for studies of integral membrane proteins in clinical material. Membrane proteins are underrepresented in proteomic investigations due to their general low-abundance and hydrophobicity. They are an important class of proteins, involved in cell-cell interactions, signaling and transport. Two of the papers in this thesis are more methodological, while the last two have a more biological/clinical focus. The general conclusions are:

✓ Membrane protein identification

15-22 % of the identified proteins were predicted to be membrane proteins. A predominant part of the membrane proteins originated from intracellular organelles, e.g. ER and mitochondria. The microsomal preparation method was shown to be reproducible and applicable to clinical material. The number of identified membrane proteins lies in line with top notations published so far. However the proportion soluble proteins in the fraction could be decreased and warrants further method development.

✓ Isoelectric focusing

Narrow range IEF reduces the sample complexity by 2/3 while maintaining high proteome coverage; ~96 % of all human proteins are represented by at least one peptide in the pH range of 3.5 - 5.0. This increases the possibility of identifying low-abundant proteins, e.g. membrane proteins, and thereby enables to dig deeper into the proteome. The theoretical peptide pIs can also be used to validate the sequences and could lead to more proteins being identified. In **paper II** we explored the possibility of using the peptide pI together with retention time and mass as a filter for database reduction prior to open modification searches.

✓ Adrenocortical tumors

Comparing the membrane proteome of ACCs with ACAs indicated a shift in metabolism towards increased glycolysis in favor of normal respiration via the electron transport chain in ACCs. GRIM-19 was found to be down-regulated in ACCs. This is a mitochondrial membrane protein required for correct assembly of complex I in the electron transport chain. It has further been shown to be a negative regulator of STAT3. Our analysis indicated a loss of mitochondrial localization of GRIM-19 in ACCs. This could have implications for the tumorigenesis of the ACCs, together with other factors such as elevated IGF2 levels.

✓ Sarcoidosis

The membrane-associated protein population of alveolar macrophages isolated from Sarcoidosis patients was compared with healthy controls. We report down-regulation of pathways related to the mitochondrial respiration system, which could lead to an imbalance in the oxidative homeostasis, in turn triggering ROS formation in sarcoidosis patients. This down-regulation was true only for non-Löfgren patients and this could in part explain their unresolved inflammation and prolonged disease course. The up-regulation of pathways related to pyruvate metabolism may be due to the cells trying to protect themselves from the increased ROS formation. We also observed upregulation in phagocytosis-related pathways in sarcoidosis, which could be pathogen-mediated mechanisms of the alveolar macrophages.

2.4.1 Future perspectives

Even though gel-based methods have been introduced that are able to resolve membrane proteins, they lag behind shotgun methods in the number of identified proteins by a factor of at least 10. The challenge concerning successful identification of integral membrane protein using a shotgun approach is clearly the solubilization issue. Membrane proteins are predominately made up of hydrophobic domains and these domains need to be solubilized but at the same time available for enzymatic cleavage. Most peptides identified from membrane proteins come from their soluble domains, meaning that large parts of the proteins remain undetected, and by that they become even more low-abundant in a tryptic peptide sample. An attractive approach could be to first remove the soluble proteins and then target the hydrophobic domains of the membrane proteins by using e.g. shaving to get rid of the soluble parts. One could then use narrow range IEF in a pH range that is favorable for hydrophobic peptides.

One of the aims in **paper III** was to search for plasma membrane bound proteins that could differentiate between ACCs and ACAs. A plasma membrane protein could possibly become a target for new diagnostic strategies using e.g. PET scanning. Since most membrane proteins found with our method belonged to intracellular organelles, further enrichment/purification of the membrane fraction is needed in order to reach the more low-abundant plasma membrane proteins. Plasma membrane proteins are maybe the most interesting protein population among membrane proteins, especially regarding cancer which partly is regarded as a disease of aberrant signal processing, and is therefore a very interesting future research area.

3 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Many people have helped in different ways throughout the years it took to finish my PhD, so I have many to thank. I will try to remember all of you here, but if I forget anyone, it is purely unintentional...

I'd like to start by thanking my main supervisor, **Per-Johan Jakobsson**. I admire your enthusiasm concerning research and your eager will to dig deep into small and big problems. You always have a positive look on things and that has been encouraging in dark moments. We've had our disagreements through the years, but luckily none of us sulk for long... Thank you for believing in me and giving me the opportunity to do my PhD in your group.

Janne Lehtiö, my co-supervisor. Without your technical knowledge, this thesis wouldn't be what it is. The ceiling is high in your group and I like your relaxed attitude towards research. I feel proud of semi-belonging to your group and I look forward to future collaborations.

Johan Lengqvist, my unofficial co-supervisor. Without you and your hard work this thesis would have taken even longer to finish. I remember when we stood waiting for the U-bahn in Frankfurt after a long day at the university, realizing that what we had been doing for some time really had worked. It was a great feeling!

Lady Sara. It would not have been the same to work at KBC without you. We have talked about everything, high and low, small and big, research and life; over coffee that always came with acid comments from our colleagues... The first time we met, we booked tickets to go to Guildford on a SELDI course (OMG ⁽ⁱ⁾) and since then we have travelled together to conferences in San Diego, Seoul, Japan, Austria and Germany, and it has been both business and pleasure. You have become one of my best friends and I hope it will stay the same when we're not PhD students anymore.

Lady Maria. It has been so much fun doing this alongside you. I admire your independence and your sense of humor. Of course you beat me and defended first, but that was no surprise; you are so efficient! Thank you for Friskis moments, beers and fun trips around the world, especially Japan was great!

Jenny Forshed. I don't know how you do it – combining career and family with three kids – and how you do it so well! You're my role model!

Everybody at KBC, past and present: Lukas, Lina, Annsofi, Kristian, Henrik, Luigi, Helena B, Elena P, Susanne (thank you especially for cakes and other goodies!), Sofia, Birgitta, Kie, Rui, Barbro, Betzy, Anders and his group, Kristina and her group, Serhiy and his group. Thank you all for making KBC a nice place to work at!

My fellow PJJ group members, past and present: **Sven** and **Pelle**, thank you guys for the time at MBB, it was a fun start to my PhD time! **Elena**, my roommate; for talks

about both research and kids. Karina, Marina, Patrick, Helena I, Anna, Cátia, Shiraz; thank you for fun times, both at work and outside work.

All collaborators: Johan Hedlund, Bengt Persson, Kristina Uhlén, Marcus Gry, Christina Björklund, Magnus Kjellman, Anders Höög, Ernesto Silva, Åsa Wheelock, Anders Eklund and Johan Grünewald. Thank you all! I also would like to remember the late Bengt Bjellqvist for fruitful discussions and the collaboration on papers I and II.

Annika. Tack för att du tog mig som inneboende på Skånegatan, trots att vi faktiskt inte kände varandra så väl då. Du har sedan dess blivit en av mina närmaste vänner. Vilka resor vi har gjort! Hoppas ni bor kvar på Söder ett tag till...

Mina underbara vänner **Stina och Mattias** och **Johan och Maria**. Utan er hade livet varit tråkigt. Alltihopa började i Linkopingo; Flamman-burgare, Håkan Hellströmdanser och middagar, och nu sitter vi här med bebisar och allt... Älskar er!

Min kompis **Katta** i Nice. Partner in crime på den gamla goda tiden. Saknar dig nu när du är så långt borta, kan du aldrig bo i Sverige??

Mina plugg-kompisar **Malin** och **Sandra**. Linköpingstiden hade inte varit densamma utan er. Synd att vi inte bor i samma stad, saknar er!

Ingrid och Helena. Tack för fina barndomsminnen!

Hanna, Michael, Lina, Ellinor, Kerim. Min "andra" familj. Jag har så många fina minnen med er; från Frankrike, Hökbacken och Göteborg. Alltid med ett stort fokus på MENYERNA!

Min syster **Greta med familj**. Er dörr har alltid stått öppen för mig och ni har ställt upp vid alla otaliga flytter genom åren... Men nu är jag ju äntligen "stadgad", så Richard, du behöver aldrig mer bära den (piiip) sängen uppför några trappor!

Yvonne för trevliga middagar och "vin-kvällar", **Patrik** och **Sofie** för att ni är så fina och bra, tack Sofie för att du är så bra med Maja.

Mamma och Nestor. För att ni alltid uppmuntrat mig. Tack för roliga Frankrike-resor, Lapplands-äventyr och allt annat. Älskar er!

Pappa. Om du ser på någonstans ifrån; jag önskar du hade varit här. Saknar dig.

Sist men absolut inte minst vill jag tacka **Håkan** och **Maja** moj. Ni är liksom det riktiga livet. Tack älskling för att du har stöttat mig genom det här och alltid uppmuntrat och trott på mig. Jag älskar er.

4 REFERENCES

1. Lander, E. S., et al., Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. *Nature* **2001**, *409* (6822), 860-921.

2. Venter, J. C., et al., The sequence of the human genome. *Science* **2001**, *291* (5507), 1304-51.

3. Finishing the euchromatic sequence of the human genome. *Nature* **2004**, *431* (7011), 931-45.

4. Pruitt, K. D., et al., The consensus coding sequence (CCDS) project: Identifying a common protein-coding gene set for the human and mouse genomes. *Genome Res* **2009**, *19* (7), 1316-23.

5. Wasinger, V. C.; Cordwell, S. J.; Cerpa-Poljak, A.; Yan, J. X.; Gooley, A. A.; Wilkins, M. R.; Duncan, M. W.; Harris, R.; Williams, K. L.; Humphery-Smith, I., Progress with gene-product mapping of the Mollicutes: Mycoplasma genitalium. *Electrophoresis* **1995**, *16* (7), 1090-4.

6. Gstaiger, M.; Aebersold, R., Applying mass spectrometry-based proteomics to genetics, genomics and network biology. *Nat Rev Genet* 2009, *10* (9), 617-27.

7. Gorg, A.; Drews, O.; Luck, C.; Weiland, F.; Weiss, W., 2-DE with IPGs. *Electrophoresis* 2009, 30 Suppl 1, S122-32.

8. Wang, H.; Clouthier, S. G.; Galchev, V.; Misek, D. E.; Duffner, U.; Min, C. K.; Zhao, R.; Tra, J.; Omenn, G. S.; Ferrara, J. L.; Hanash, S. M., Intact-protein-based high-resolution three-dimensional quantitative analysis system for proteome profiling of biological fluids. *Mol Cell Proteomics* **2005**, *4* (5), 618-25.

9. Zhang, H.; Li, X. J.; Martin, D. B.; Aebersold, R., Identification and quantification of N-linked glycoproteins using hydrazide chemistry, stable isotope labeling and mass spectrometry. *Nat Biotechnol* **2003**, *21* (6), 660-6.

10. Pernemalm, M.; Orre, L. M.; Lengqvist, J.; Wikstrom, P.; Lewensohn, R.; Lehtio, J., Evaluation of three principally different intact protein prefractionation methods for plasma biomarker discovery. *J Proteome Res* **2008**, *7* (7), 2712-22.

11. Yang, Y.; Zhang, S.; Howe, K.; Wilson, D. B.; Moser, F.; Irwin, D.; Thannhauser, T. W., A comparison of nLC-ESI-MS/MS and nLC-MALDI-MS/MS for GeLC-based protein identification and iTRAQ-based shotgun quantitative proteomics. *J Biomol Tech* **2007**, *18* (4), 226-37.

12. Washburn, M. P.; Wolters, D.; Yates, J. R., 3rd, Large-scale analysis of the yeast proteome by multidimensional protein identification technology. *Nat Biotechnol* **2001**, *19* (3), 242-7.

13. Wolters, D. A.; Washburn, M. P.; Yates, J. R., 3rd, An automated multidimensional protein identification technology for shotgun proteomics. *Anal Chem* **2001**, *73* (23), 5683-90.

14. Cargile, B. J.; Sevinsky, J. R.; Essader, A. S.; Stephenson, J. L., Jr.; Bundy, J. L., Immobilized pH gradient isoelectric focusing as a first-dimension separation in shotgun proteomics. *J Biomol Tech* **2005**, *16* (3), 181-9.

15. Geiser, L.; Vaezzadeh, A. R.; Deshusses, J. M.; Hochstrasser, D. F., Shotgun proteomics: a qualitative approach applying isoelectric focusing on immobilized pH gradient and LC-MS/MS. *Methods Mol Biol* **2011**, *681*, 449-58.

16. Geiser, L.; Dayon, L.; Vaezzadeh, A. R.; Hochstrasser, D. F., Shotgun proteomics: a relative quantitative approach using Off-Gel electrophoresis and LC-MS/MS. *Methods Mol Biol* **2011**, *681*, 459-72.

17. Cargile, B. J.; Sevinsky, J. R.; Essader, A. S.; Eu, J. P.; Stephenson, J. L., Jr., Calculation of the isoelectric point of tryptic peptides in the pH 3.5-4.5 range based on adjacent amino acid effects. *Electrophoresis* **2008**, *29* (13), 2768-78.

18. Uhlén, K.; Fenyo, D.; Hörnsten, L.; Bjellqvist, B. In *Improved prediction of peptide isoelectric point by modelling the effects of interaction between charged neighbouring amino acids*, 7th Siena meeting from genome to proteome: back to the future, Siena, Italy, September 3-7, 2006; Siena, Italy, 2006.

19. Karas, M.; Hillenkamp, F., Laser desorption ionization of proteins with molecular masses exceeding 10,000 daltons. *Anal Chem* **1988**, *60* (20), 2299-301.

20. Fenn, J. B.; Mann, M.; Meng, C. K.; Wong, S. F.; Whitehouse, C. M., Electrospray ionization for mass spectrometry of large biomolecules. *Science* **1989**, *246* (4926), 64-71.

21. Want, E. J.; Cravatt, B. F.; Siuzdak, G., The expanding role of mass spectrometry in metabolite profiling and characterization. *Chembiochem* **2005**, *6* (11), 1941-51.

22. Paul, W.; Steinwedel, H., *Ein Neues Massenspektrometer Ohne Magnetfeld. Z *Naturforsch A* **1953**, *8* (7), 448-450.

23. Stephens, W. E., Proceedings of the American Physical Society. *Physical Review* 1946, 69 (11-12), 674.

24. Comisaro.Mb; Marshall, A. G., Fourier-Transform Ion-Cyclotron Resonance Spectroscopy. *Chem Phys Lett* **1974**, *25* (2), 282-283.

25. Makarov, A., Electrostatic axially harmonic orbital trapping: a high-performance technique of mass analysis. *Anal Chem* **2000**, *72* (6), 1156-62.

26. Makarov, A.; Denisov, E.; Kholomeev, A.; Balschun, W.; Lange, O.; Strupat, K.; Horning, S., Performance evaluation of a hybrid linear ion trap/orbitrap mass spectrometer. *Anal Chem* **2006**, *78* (7), 2113-20.

27. Makarov, A.; Denisov, E.; Lange, O.; Horning, S., Dynamic range of mass accuracy in LTQ Orbitrap hybrid mass spectrometer. *J Am Soc Mass Spectrom* **2006**, *17* (7), 977-82.

28. Olsen, J. V.; de Godoy, L. M.; Li, G.; Macek, B.; Mortensen, P.; Pesch, R.; Makarov, A.; Lange, O.; Horning, S.; Mann, M., Parts per million mass accuracy on an Orbitrap mass spectrometer via lock mass injection into a C-trap. *Mol Cell Proteomics* **2005**, *4* (12), 2010-21.

29. Perry, R. H.; Cooks, R. G.; Noll, R. J., Orbitrap mass spectrometry: instrumentation, ion motion and applications. *Mass Spectrom Rev* **2008**, *27* (6), 661-99. **30.** Wiza, J. L., Microchannel Plate Detectors. *Nucl Instrum Methods* **1979**, *162* (1-3), 587-601.

31. Wallin, E.; von Heijne, G., Genome-wide analysis of integral membrane proteins from eubacterial, archaean, and eukaryotic organisms. *Protein Sci* **1998**, *7* (4), 1029-38. **32.** Fagerberg, L.; Jonasson, K.; von Heijne, G.; Uhlen, M.; Berglund, L., Prediction of the human membrane proteome. *Proteomics* **2010**, *10* (6), 1141-9.

33. Yildirim, M. A.; Goh, K. I.; Cusick, M. E.; Barabasi, A. L.; Vidal, M., Drug-target network. *Nat Biotechnol* **2007**, *25* (10), 1119-26.

34. Cowan, S. W.; Schirmer, T.; Rummel, G.; Steiert, M.; Ghosh, R.; Pauptit, R. A.; Jansonius, J. N.; Rosenbusch, J. P., Crystal structures explain functional properties of two E. coli porins. *Nature* **1992**, *358* (6389), 727-33.

35. Santoni, V.; Molloy, M.; Rabilloud, T., Membrane proteins and proteomics: Un amour impossible? *Electrophoresis* **2000**, *21* (6), 1054-1070.

36. Lasserre, J. P.; Beyne, E.; Pyndiah, S.; Lapaillerie, D.; Claverol, S.; Bonneu, M., A complexomic study of Escherichia coli using two-dimensional blue native/SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. *Electrophoresis* **2006**, *27* (16), 3306-21.

37. De Duve, C.; Pressman, B. C.; Gianetto, R.; Wattiaux, R.; Appelmans, F., Tissue fractionation studies. 6. Intracellular distribution patterns of enzymes in rat-liver tissue. *Biochem J* **1955**, *60* (4), 604-17.

38. Dreger, M., Subcellular proteomics. *Mass Spectrom Rev* 2003, 22 (1), 27-56.

39. de Araujo, M. E.; Huber, L. A.; Stasyk, T., Isolation of endocitic organelles by density gradient centrifugation. *Methods Mol Biol* **2008**, *424*, 317-31.

40. Graham, J. M.; Ford, T.; Rickwood, D., Isolation of the major subcellular organelles from mouse liver using Nycodenz gradients without the use of an ultracentrifuge. *Anal Biochem* **1990**, *187* (2), 318-23.

41. Zhang, L.; Xie, J.; Wang, X.; Liu, X.; Tang, X.; Cao, R.; Hu, W.; Nie, S.; Fan, C.; Liang, S., Proteomic analysis of mouse liver plasma membrane: use of differential extraction to enrich hydrophobic membrane proteins. *Proteomics* **2005**, *5* (17), 4510-24.

42. Hunzinger, C., et al., Comparative profiling of the mammalian mitochondrial proteome: multiple aconitase-2 isoforms including N-formylkynurenine modifications as part of a protein biomarker signature for reactive oxidative species. *J Proteome Res* **2006**, *5* (3), 625-33.

43. Wu, C. C.; MacCoss, M. J.; Mardones, G.; Finnigan, C.; Mogelsvang, S.; Yates, J. R., 3rd; Howell, K. E., Organellar proteomics reveals Golgi arginine dimethylation. *Mol Biol Cell* **2004**, *15* (6), 2907-19.

44. Morciano, M.; Burre, J.; Corvey, C.; Karas, M.; Zimmermann, H.; Volknandt, W., Immunoisolation of two synaptic vesicle pools from synaptosomes: a proteomics analysis. *J Neurochem* **2005**, *95* (6), 1732-45.

45. Moebius, J.; Zahedi, R. P.; Lewandrowski, U.; Berger, C.; Walter, U.; Sickmann, A., The human platelet membrane proteome reveals several new potential membrane proteins. *Mol Cell Proteomics* **2005**, *4* (11), 1754-61.

46. Islinger, M.; Eckerskorn, C.; Volkl, A., Free-flow electrophoresis in the proteomic era: a technique in flux. *Electrophoresis* **2010**, *31* (11), 1754-63.

47. Chaney, L. K.; Jacobson, B. S., Coating cells with colloidal silica for high yield isolation of plasma membrane sheets and identification of transmembrane proteins. *J Biol Chem* **1983**, *258* (16), 10062-72.

48. Rahbar, A. M.; Fenselau, C., Integration of Jacobson's pellicle method into proteomic strategies for plasma membrane proteins. *J Proteome Res* **2004**, *3* (6), 1267-77.

49. Rahbar, A. M.; Fenselau, C., Unbiased examination of changes in plasma membrane proteins in drug resistant cancer cells. *J Proteome Res* **2005**, *4* (6), 2148-53. **50.** Durr, E.; Yu, J.; Krasinska, K. M.; Carver, L. A.; Yates, J. R.; Testa, J. E.; Oh, P.;

Schnitzer, J. E., Direct proteomic mapping of the lung microvascular endothelial cell surface in vivo and in cell culture. *Nat Biotechnol* **2004**, *22* (8), 985-92.

51. Oh, P.; Li, Y.; Yu, J.; Durr, E.; Krasinska, K. M.; Carver, L. A.; Testa, J. E.; Schnitzer, J. E., Subtractive proteomic mapping of the endothelial surface in lung and solid tumours for tissue-specific therapy. *Nature* **2004**, *429* (6992), 629-35.

52. Schindler, J.; Nothwang, H. G., Aqueous polymer two-phase systems: effective tools for plasma membrane proteomics. *Proteomics* **2006**, *6* (20), 5409-17.

53. Pedersen, S. K.; Harry, J. L.; Sebastian, L.; Baker, J.; Traini, M. D.; McCarthy, J. T.; Manoharan, A.; Wilkins, M. R.; Gooley, A. A.; Righetti, P. G.; Packer, N. H.; Williams, K. L.; Herbert, B. R., Unseen proteome: mining below the tip of the iceberg to find low abundance and membrane proteins. *J Proteome Res* **2003**, *2* (3), 303-11.

54. Wessel, D.; Flugge, U. I., A method for the quantitative recovery of protein in dilute solution in the presence of detergents and lipids. *Anal Biochem* **1984**, *138* (1), 141-3.

55. Mastro, R.; Hall, M., Protein delipidation and precipitation by tri-n-butylphosphate, acetone, and methanol treatment for isoelectric focusing and two-dimensional gel electrophoresis. *Anal Biochem* **1999**, *273* (2), 313-5.

56. Simoes-Barbosa, A.; Santana, J. M.; Teixeira, A. R., Solubilization of delipidated macrophage membrane proteins for analysis by two-dimensional electrophoresis. *Electrophoresis* **2000**, *21* (3), 641-4.

57. Pasini, E. M.; Kirkegaard, M.; Mortensen, P.; Lutz, H. U.; Thomas, A. W.; Mann, M., In-depth analysis of the membrane and cytosolic proteome of red blood cells. *Blood* **2006**, *108* (3), 791-801.

58. Krogh, A.; Larsson, B.; von Heijne, G.; Sonnhammer, E. L., Predicting transmembrane protein topology with a hidden Markov model: application to complete genomes. *J Mol Biol* **2001**, *305* (3), 567-80.

59. Sonnhammer, E. L.; von Heijne, G.; Krogh, A., A hidden Markov model for predicting transmembrane helices in protein sequences. *Proc Int Conf Intell Syst Mol Biol* **1998**, *6*, 175-82.

60. von Heijne, G., Membrane protein structure prediction. Hydrophobicity analysis and the positive-inside rule. *J Mol Biol* **1992**, *225* (2), 487-94.

61. Jones, D. T.; Taylor, W. R.; Thornton, J. M., A model recognition approach to the prediction of all-helical membrane protein structure and topology. *Biochemistry* **1994**, *33* (10), 3038-49.

62. Rost, B.; Fariselli, P.; Casadio, R., Topology prediction for helical transmembrane proteins at 86% accuracy. *Protein Sci* **1996**, *5* (8), 1704-18.

63. Tusnady, G. E.; Simon, I., Principles governing amino acid composition of integral membrane proteins: application to topology prediction. *J Mol Biol* **1998**, *283* (2), 489-506.

64. Ames, G. F.; Nikaido, K., Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis of membrane proteins. *Biochemistry* **1976**, *15* (3), 616-23.

65. Macfarlane, D. E., Two dimensional benzyldimethyl-n-hexadecylammonium chloride----sodium dodecyl sulfate preparative polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis: a high capacity high resolution technique for the purification of proteins from complex mixtures. *Anal Biochem* **1989**, *176* (2), 457-63.

66. Hartinger, J.; Stenius, K.; Hogemann, D.; Jahn, R., 16-BAC/SDS-PAGE: a twodimensional gel electrophoresis system suitable for the separation of integral membrane proteins. *Anal Biochem* **1996**, *240* (1), 126-33.

67. Schagger, H.; von Jagow, G., Blue native electrophoresis for isolation of membrane protein complexes in enzymatically active form. *Anal Biochem* **1991**, *199* (2), 223-31.

68. Rais, I.; Karas, M.; Schagger, H., Two-dimensional electrophoresis for the isolation of integral membrane proteins and mass spectrometric identification. *Proteomics* **2004**, *4* (9), 2567-71.

69. Zahedi, R. P.; Meisinger, C.; Sickmann, A., Two-dimensional benzyldimethyl-nhexadecylammonium chloride/SDS-PAGE for membrane proteomics. *Proteomics* **2005**, *5* (14), 3581-8.

70. Schagger, H.; Cramer, W. A.; von Jagow, G., Analysis of molecular masses and oligomeric states of protein complexes by blue native electrophoresis and isolation of membrane protein complexes by two-dimensional native electrophoresis. *Anal Biochem* **1994**, *217* (2), 220-30.

71. Stenberg, F.; Chovanec, P.; Maslen, S. L.; Robinson, C. V.; Ilag, L. L.; von Heijne, G.; Daley, D. O., Protein complexes of the Escherichia coli cell envelope. *J Biol Chem* **2005**, *280* (41), 34409-19.

72. Reifschneider, N. H.; Goto, S.; Nakamoto, H.; Takahashi, R.; Sugawa, M.; Dencher, N. A.; Krause, F., Defining the mitochondrial proteomes from five rat organs in a physiologically significant context using 2D blue-native/SDS-PAGE. *J Proteome Res* **2006**, *5* (5), 1117-32.

73. Burre, J.; Beckhaus, T.; Schagger, H.; Corvey, C.; Hofmann, S.; Karas, M.; Zimmermann, H.; Volknandt, W., Analysis of the synaptic vesicle proteome using three gel-based protein separation techniques. *Proteomics* **2006**, *6* (23), 6250-62.

74. Wu, C. C.; Yates, J. R., 3rd, The application of mass spectrometry to membrane proteomics. *Nat Biotechnol* **2003**, *21* (3), 262-7.

75. Elias, J. E.; Gygi, S. P., Target-decoy search strategy for increased confidence in large-scale protein identifications by mass spectrometry. *Nat Methods* **2007**, *4* (3), 207-14.

76. Reinders, J.; Zahedi, R. P.; Pfanner, N.; Meisinger, C.; Sickmann, A., Toward the complete yeast mitochondrial proteome: multidimensional separation techniques for mitochondrial proteomics. *J Proteome Res* **2006**, *5* (7), 1543-54.

77. Schirmer, E. C.; Florens, L.; Guan, T.; Yates, J. R., 3rd; Gerace, L., Nuclear membrane proteins with potential disease links found by subtractive proteomics. *Science* 2003, *301* (5638), 1380-2.

78. Moglich, A.; Krieger, F.; Kiefhaber, T., Molecular basis for the effect of urea and guanidinium chloride on the dynamics of unfolded polypeptide chains. *J Mol Biol* **2005**, *345* (1), 153-62.

79. Tobi, D.; Elber, R.; Thirumalai, D., The dominant interaction between peptide and urea is electrostatic in nature: a molecular dynamics simulation study. *Biopolymers* **2003**, *68* (3), 359-69.

80. Castellanos-Serra, L.; Paz-Lago, D., Inhibition of unwanted proteolysis during sample preparation: evaluation of its efficiency in challenge experiments. *Electrophoresis* **2002**, *23* (11), 1745-53.

81. Reynolds, J. A.; Tanford, C., The gross conformation of protein-sodium dodecyl sulfate complexes. *J Biol Chem* **1970**, *245* (19), 5161-5.

82. Zhang, N.; Chen, R.; Young, N.; Wishart, D.; Winter, P.; Weiner, J. H.; Li, L., Comparison of SDS- and methanol-assisted protein solubilization and digestion methods for Escherichia coli membrane proteome analysis by 2-D LC-MS/MS. *Proteomics* **2007**, *7* (4), 484-93.

83. Loo, R. R.; Dales, N.; Andrews, P. C., Surfactant effects on protein structure examined by electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. *Protein Sci* **1994**, *3* (11), 1975-83.

84. Yu, Y. Q.; Gilar, M.; Gebler, J. C., A complete peptide mapping of membrane proteins: a novel surfactant aiding the enzymatic digestion of bacteriorhodopsin. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom* **2004**, *18* (6), 711-5.

85. Norris, J. L.; Porter, N. A.; Caprioli, R. M., Mass spectrometry of intracellular and membrane proteins using cleavable detergents. *Anal Chem* **2003**, *75* (23), 6642-7.

86. Blonder, J.; Hale, M. L.; Chan, K. C.; Yu, L. R.; Lucas, D. A.; Conrads, T. P.; Zhou, M.; Popoff, M. R.; Issaq, H. J.; Stiles, B. G.; Veenstra, T. D., Quantitative profiling of the detergent-resistant membrane proteome of iota-b toxin induced vero cells. *J Proteome Res* **2005**, *4* (2), 523-31.

87. Blonder, J.; Hale, M. L.; Lucas, D. A.; Schaefer, C. F.; Yu, L. R.; Conrads, T. P.; Issaq, H. J.; Stiles, B. G.; Veenstra, T. D., Proteomic analysis of detergent-resistant membrane rafts. *Electrophoresis* **2004**, *25* (9), 1307-18.

88. Chick, J. M.; Haynes, P. A.; Molloy, M. P.; Bjellqvist, B.; Baker, M. S.; Len, A. C., Characterization of the rat liver membrane proteome using peptide immobilized pH gradient isoelectric focusing. *J Proteome Res* **2008**, *7* (3), 1036-45.

89. Da Cruz, S.; Xenarios, I.; Langridge, J.; Vilbois, F.; Parone, P. A.; Martinou, J. C., Proteomic analysis of the mouse liver mitochondrial inner membrane. *J Biol Chem* **2003**, 278 (42), 41566-71.

90. Zhu, W.; Smith, J. W.; Huang, C. M., Mass spectrometry-based label-free quantitative proteomics. *J Biomed Biotechnol* **2010**, *2010*, 840518.

91. Ong, S. E.; Blagoev, B.; Kratchmarova, I.; Kristensen, D. B.; Steen, H.; Pandey, A.; Mann, M., Stable isotope labeling by amino acids in cell culture, SILAC, as a simple and accurate approach to expression proteomics. *Mol Cell Proteomics* **2002**, *1* (5), 376-86.

92. Reynolds, K. J.; Yao, X.; Fenselau, C., Proteolytic 18O labeling for comparative proteomics: evaluation of endoprotease Glu-C as the catalytic agent. *J Proteome Res* **2002**, *1* (1), 27-33.

93. Yao, X.; Freas, A.; Ramirez, J.; Demirev, P. A.; Fenselau, C., Proteolytic 180 labeling for comparative proteomics: model studies with two serotypes of adenovirus. *Anal Chem* **2001**, *73* (13), 2836-42.

94. Gygi, S. P.; Rist, B.; Gerber, S. A.; Turecek, F.; Gelb, M. H.; Aebersold, R., Quantitative analysis of complex protein mixtures using isotope-coded affinity tags. *Nat Biotechnol* **1999**, *17* (10), 994-9.

95. Ross, P. L., et al., Multiplexed protein quantitation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae using amine-reactive isobaric tagging reagents. *Mol Cell Proteomics* **2004**, *3* (12), 1154-69.

96. Wold, S.; Esbensen, K.; Geladi, P., Principal Component Analysis. *Chemometr Intell Lab* **1987**, *2* (1-3), 37-52.

97. Trygg, J.; Wold, S., Orthogonal projections to latent structures (O-PLS). *J Chemometr* **2002**, *16* (3), 119-128.

98. Huang da, W.; Sherman, B. T.; Tan, Q.; Collins, J. R.; Alvord, W. G.; Roayaei, J.; Stephens, R.; Baseler, M. W.; Lane, H. C.; Lempicki, R. A., The DAVID Gene Functional Classification Tool: a novel biological module-centric algorithm to functionally analyze large gene lists. *Genome Biol* **2007**, *8* (9), R183.

99. Thomas, P. D.; Campbell, M. J.; Kejariwal, A.; Mi, H.; Karlak, B.; Daverman, R.; Diemer, K.; Muruganujan, A.; Narechania, A., PANTHER: a library of protein families and subfamilies indexed by function. *Genome Res* **2003**, *13* (9), 2129-41.

100. Alexeyenko, A.; Sonnhammer, E. L., Global networks of functional coupling in eukaryotes from comprehensive data integration. *Genome Res* **2009**, *19* (6), 1107-16.

101. Picotti, P.; Aebersold, R.; Domon, B., The implications of proteolytic background for shotgun proteomics. *Mol Cell Proteomics* **2007**, *6* (9), 1589-98.

102. Picotti, P.; Bodenmiller, B.; Mueller, L. N.; Domon, B.; Aebersold, R., Full dynamic range proteome analysis of S. cerevisiae by targeted proteomics. *Cell* **2009**, *138* (4), 795-806.

103. Picotti, P.; Rinner, O.; Stallmach, R.; Dautel, F.; Farrah, T.; Domon, B.; Wenschuh, H.; Aebersold, R., High-throughput generation of selected reaction-monitoring assays for proteins and proteomes. *Nat Methods* **2010**, *7* (1), 43-6.

104. Parkin, D. M.; Bray, F.; Ferlay, J.; Pisani, P., Global cancer statistics, 2002. *CA Cancer J Clin* **2005**, *55* (2), 74-108.

105. Dowell, J. E., Small cell lung cancer: are we making progress? *Am J Med Sci* **2010**, *339* (1), 68-76.

106. Hurley, L. H., DNA and its associated processes as targets for cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* **2002**, *2* (3), 188-200.

107. Tewey, K. M.; Rowe, T. C.; Yang, L.; Halligan, B. D.; Liu, L. F., Adriamycininduced DNA damage mediated by mammalian DNA topoisomerase II. *Science* **1984**, *226* (4673), 466-8.

108. Cole, S. P.; Bhardwaj, G.; Gerlach, J. H.; Mackie, J. E.; Grant, C. E.; Almquist, K. C.; Stewart, A. J.; Kurz, E. U.; Duncan, A. M.; Deeley, R. G., Overexpression of a transporter gene in a multidrug-resistant human lung cancer cell line. *Science* **1992**, *258* (5088), 1650-4.

109. Nielsen, D.; Maare, C.; Skovsgaard, T., Cellular resistance to anthracyclines. *Gen Pharmacol* **1996**, *27* (2), 251-5.

110. Wheeler, M., Adrenal glands. In *The Oxford Companion of the Body* [Online] Colin Blakemore, S. J., Ed. Oxford University Press: 2001. <u>http://www.oxfordreference.com/views/ENTRY.html?subview=Main&entry=t128.e14</u> (accessed 16 February 2011).

111. Hedeland, H.; Ostberg, G.; Hokfelt, B., On the prevalence of adrenocortical adenomas in an autopsy material in relation to hypertension and diabetes. *Acta Med Scand* **1968**, *184* (3), 211-4.

112. Dackiw, A. P.; Lee, J. E.; Gagel, R. F.; Evans, D. B., Adrenal cortical carcinoma. *World J Surg* **2001**, *25* (7), 914-26.

113. Wandoloski, M.; Bussey, K. J.; Demeure, M. J., Adrenocortical cancer. *Surg Clin North Am* **2009**, *89* (5), 1255-67.

114. Anagnostis, P.; Karagiannis, A.; Tziomalos, K.; Kakafika, A. I.; Athyros, V. G.; Mikhailidis, D. P., Adrenal incidentaloma: a diagnostic challenge. *Hormones (Athens)* **2009**, *8* (3), 163-84.

115. Kufe DW, P. R., Weichselbaum RR, Bast RC Jr, Gansler TS, Holland JF, Frei E, *Cancer Medicine* 6. BC Decker Inc: London, 2003.

116. Kendrick, M. L.; Lloyd, R.; Erickson, L.; Farley, D. R.; Grant, C. S.; Thompson, G. B.; Rowland, C.; Young, W. F., Jr.; van Heerden, J. A., Adrenocortical carcinoma: surgical progress or status quo? *Arch Surg* **2001**, *136* (5), 543-9.

117. Hunninghake, G. W.; Costabel, U.; Ando, M.; Baughman, R.; Cordier, J. F.; du Bois, R.; Eklund, A.; Kitaichi, M.; Lynch, J.; Rizzato, G.; Rose, C.; Selroos, O.; Semenzato, G.; Sharma, O. P., ATS/ERS/WASOG statement on sarcoidosis. American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society/World Association of Sarcoidosis and other Granulomatous Disorders. *Sarcoidosis Vasc Diffuse Lung Dis* **1999**, *16* (2), 149-73.

118. Costabel, U.; Hunninghake, G. W., ATS/ERS/WASOG statement on sarcoidosis. Sarcoidosis Statement Committee. American Thoracic Society. European Respiratory Society. World Association for Sarcoidosis and Other Granulomatous Disorders. *Eur Respir J* **1999**, *14* (4), 735-7.

119. Sato, H.; Grutters, J. C.; Pantelidis, P.; Mizzon, A. N.; Ahmad, T.; Van Houte, A. J.; Lammers, J. W.; Van Den Bosch, J. M.; Welsh, K. I.; Du Bois, R. M., HLA-DQB1*0201: a marker for good prognosis in British and Dutch patients with sarcoidosis. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* **2002**, *27* (4), 406-12.

120. Grunewald, J., Genetics of sarcoidosis. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2008, 14 (5), 434-9.

121. Grunewald, J.; Eklund, A., Lofgren's syndrome: human leukocyte antigen strongly influences the disease course. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* **2009**, *179* (4), 307-12.

122. Grunewald, J.; Brynedal, B.; Darlington, P.; Nisell, M.; Cederlund, K.; Hillert, J.; Eklund, A., Different HLA-DRB1 allele distributions in distinct clinical subgroups of sarcoidosis patients. *Respir Res 11*, 25.

123. Grunewald, J.; Eklund, A.; Wigzell, H.; Van Meijgaarden, K. E.; Ottenhoff, T. H., Bronchoalveolar lavage cells from sarcoidosis patients and healthy controls can efficiently present antigens. *J Intern Med* **1999**, *245* (4), 353-7.

124. Fehrenbach, H.; Zissel, G.; Goldmann, T.; Tschernig, T.; Vollmer, E.; Pabst, R.; Muller-Quernheim, J., Alveolar macrophages are the main source for tumour necrosis factor-alpha in patients with sarcoidosis. *Eur Respir J* **2003**, *21* (3), 421-8.

125. Song, Z.; Marzilli, L.; Greenlee, B. M.; Chen, E. S.; Silver, R. F.; Askin, F. B.; Teirstein, A. S.; Zhang, Y.; Cotter, R. J.; Moller, D. R., Mycobacterial catalase-

peroxidase is a tissue antigen and target of the adaptive immune response in systemic sarcoidosis. *J Exp Med* **2005**, 201 (5), 755-67.

126. Eishi, Y., et al., Quantitative analysis of mycobacterial and propionibacterial DNA in lymph nodes of Japanese and European patients with sarcoidosis. *J Clin Microbiol* **2002**, *40* (1), 198-204.

127. Ishige, I.; Usui, Y.; Takemura, T.; Eishi, Y., Quantitative PCR of mycobacterial and propionibacterial DNA in lymph nodes of Japanese patients with sarcoidosis. *Lancet* **1999**, *354* (9173), 120-3.

128. Wahlstrom, J.; Dengjel, J.; Winqvist, O.; Targoff, I.; Persson, B.; Duyar, H.; Rammensee, H. G.; Eklund, A.; Weissert, R.; Grunewald, J., Autoimmune T cell responses to antigenic peptides presented by bronchoalveolar lavage cell HLA-DR molecules in sarcoidosis. *Clin Immunol* **2009**, *133* (3), 353-63.

129. Weiss, L. M.; Medeiros, L. J.; Vickery, A. L., Jr., Pathologic features of prognostic significance in adrenocortical carcinoma. *American Journal of Surgical Pathology* **1989**, *13* (3), 202-6.

130. Eklund, A.; Blaschke, E., Relationship between changed alveolar-capillary permeability and angiotensin converting enzyme activity in serum in sarcoidosis. *Thorax* **1986**, *41* (8), 629-34.

131. Shilov, I. V.; Seymour, S. L.; Patel, A. A.; Loboda, A.; Tang, W. H.; Keating, S. P.; Hunter, C. L.; Nuwaysir, L. M.; Schaeffer, D. A., The Paragon Algorithm, a next generation search engine that uses sequence temperature values and feature probabilities to identify peptides from tandem mass spectra. *Mol Cell Proteomics* **2007**, 6(9), 1638-55.

132. Lengqvist, J.; Uhlen, K.; Lehtio, J., iTRAQ compatibility of peptide immobilized pH gradient isoelectric focusing. *Proteomics* **2007**, *7* (11), 1746-52.

133. Tusher, V. G.; Tibshirani, R.; Chu, G., Significance analysis of microarrays applied to the ionizing radiation response. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **2001**, *98* (9), 5116-21.

134. Gan, C. S.; Chong, P. K.; Pham, T. K.; Wright, P. C., Technical, experimental, and biological variations in isobaric tags for relative and absolute quantitation (iTRAQ). *J Proteome Res* **2007**, *6* (2), 821-7.

135. Persson, B.; Argos, P., Topology prediction of membrane proteins. *Protein Sci* **1996,** *5* (2), 363-71.

136. Scherl, A., et al., Exploring glycopeptide-resistance in Staphylococcus aureus: a combined proteomics and transcriptomics approach for the identification of resistance-related markers. *BMC Genomics* **2006**, *7*, 296.

137. Mirza, S. P.; Halligan, B. D.; Greene, A. S.; Olivier, M., Improved method for the analysis of membrane proteins by mass spectrometry. *Physiol Genomics* **2007**, *30* (1), 89-94.

138. Nielsen, M. L.; Savitski, M. M.; Zubarev, R. A., Extent of modifications in human proteome samples and their effect on dynamic range of analysis in shotgun proteomics. *Mol Cell Proteomics* **2006**, *5* (12), 2384-91.

139. Stephenson, J. L., Jr.; Bunger, M. K.; Cargile, B. J.; Sevinsky, J. R. In *A new algorithm for pI prediction of peptides from IPG-IEF: Applications to analysis of single nucleotide polymorphisms*, 7th Siena meeting from genome to proteome: back to the future, Siena, Italy, September 3-7, 2006; Siena, Italy, 2006.

140. Krokhin, O. V., Sequence-specific retention calculator. Algorithm for peptide retention prediction in ion-pair RP-HPLC: application to 300- and 100-A pore size C18 sorbents. *Anal Chem* **2006**, *78* (22), 7785-95.

141. Gilar, M.; Jaworski, A.; Olivova, P.; Gebler, J. C., Peptide retention prediction applied to proteomic data analysis. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom* 2007, *21* (17), 2813-21.

142. Gauci, S.; van Breukelen, B.; Lemeer, S. M.; Krijgsveld, J.; Heck, A. J., A versatile peptide pI calculator for phosphorylated and N-terminal acetylated peptides experimentally tested using peptide isoelectric focusing. *Proteomics* **2008**, *8* (23-24), 4898-906.

143. Davidson, A. L.; Dassa, E.; Orelle, C.; Chen, J., Structure, function, and evolution of bacterial ATP-binding cassette systems. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* **2008**, *72* (2), 317-64, table of contents.

144. Demaurex, N.; Distelhorst, C., Cell biology. Apoptosis--the calcium connection. *Science* **2003**, *300* (5616), 65-7.

145. Laurell, C.; Velazquez-Fernandez, D.; Lindsten, K.; Juhlin, C.; Enberg, U.; Geli, J.; Hoog, A.; Kjellman, M.; Lundeberg, J.; Hamberger, B.; Larsson, C.; Nilsson, P.; Backdahl, M., Transcriptional profiling enables molecular classification of adrenocortical tumours. *Eur J Endocrinol* **2009**, *161* (1), 141-52.

146. de Fraipont, F.; El Atifi, M.; Cherradi, N.; Le Moigne, G.; Defaye, G.; Houlgatte, R.; Bertherat, J.; Bertagna, X.; Plouin, P. F.; Baudin, E.; Berger, F.; Gicquel, C.; Chabre, O.; Feige, J. J., Gene expression profiling of human adrenocortical tumors using complementary deoxyribonucleic Acid microarrays identifies several candidate genes as markers of malignancy. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **2005**, *90* (3), 1819-29.

147. Giordano, T. J.; Kuick, R.; Else, T.; Gauger, P. G.; Vinco, M.; Bauersfeld, J.; Sanders, D.; Thomas, D. G.; Doherty, G.; Hammer, G., Molecular classification and prognostication of adrenocortical tumors by transcriptome profiling. *Clin Cancer Res* **2009**, *15* (2), 668-76.

148. Giordano, T. J.; Thomas, D. G.; Kuick, R.; Lizyness, M.; Misek, D. E.; Smith, A. L.; Sanders, D.; Aljundi, R. T.; Gauger, P. G.; Thompson, N. W.; Taylor, J. M.; Hanash, S. M., Distinct transcriptional profiles of adrenocortical tumors uncovered by DNA microarray analysis. *Am J Pathol* **2003**, *162* (2), 521-31.

149. Fottner, C.; Hoeflich, A.; Wolf, E.; Weber, M. M., Role of the insulin-like growth factor system in adrenocortical growth control and carcinogenesis. *Horm Metab Res* **2004**, *36* (6), 397-405.

150. Kirschner, L. S., Signaling pathways in adrenocortical cancer. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **2002**, *968*, 222-39.

151. Ewing, G. P.; Goff, L. W., The insulin-like growth factor signaling pathway as a target for treatment of colorectal carcinoma. *Clin Colorectal Cancer* **2010**, *9* (4), 219-23.

152. Baserga, R.; Peruzzi, F.; Reiss, K., The IGF-1 receptor in cancer biology. *Int J Cancer* **2003**, *107* (6), 873-7.

153. Hennessy, B. T.; Smith, D. L.; Ram, P. T.; Lu, Y.; Mills, G. B., Exploiting the PI3K/AKT pathway for cancer drug discovery. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **2005**, *4* (12), 988-1004.

154. Nosho, K.; Yamamoto, H.; Takamaru, H.; Hamamoto, Y.; Goto, A.; Yoshida, Y.; Arimura, Y.; Endo, T.; Hirata, K.; Imai, K., A case of colorectal carcinoma in adenoma analyzed by a cDNA array. *Int J Colorectal Dis* **2005**, *20* (3), 287-91.

155. Lu, H.; Cao, X., GRIM-19 is essential for maintenance of mitochondrial membrane potential. *Mol Biol Cell* **2008**, *19* (5), 1893-902.

156. Huang, G.; Lu, H.; Hao, A.; Ng, D. C.; Ponniah, S.; Guo, K.; Lufei, C.; Zeng, Q.; Cao, X., GRIM-19, a cell death regulatory protein, is essential for assembly and function of mitochondrial complex I. *Mol Cell Biol* **2004**, *24* (19), 8447-56.

157. He, X.; Cao, X., Identification of alternatively spliced GRIM-19 mRNA in kidney cancer tissues. *J Hum Genet* **2010**, *55* (8), 507-11.

158. Buzzai, M.; Bauer, D. E.; Jones, R. G.; Deberardinis, R. J.; Hatzivassiliou, G.; Elstrom, R. L.; Thompson, C. B., The glucose dependence of Akt-transformed cells can be reversed by pharmacologic activation of fatty acid beta-oxidation. *Oncogene* **2005**, *24* (26), 4165-73.

159. DeBerardinis, R. J.; Lum, J. J.; Hatzivassiliou, G.; Thompson, C. B., The biology of cancer: metabolic reprogramming fuels cell growth and proliferation. *Cell Metab* **2008**, *7* (1), 11-20.

160. Christofk, H. R.; Vander Heiden, M. G.; Wu, N.; Asara, J. M.; Cantley, L. C., Pyruvate kinase M2 is a phosphotyrosine-binding protein. *Nature* **2008**, *452* (7184), 181-6.

161. Sancak, Y.; Bar-Peled, L.; Zoncu, R.; Markhard, A. L.; Nada, S.; Sabatini, D. M., Ragulator-Rag complex targets mTORC1 to the lysosomal surface and is necessary for its activation by amino acids. *Cell* **2010**, *141* (2), 290-303.

162. Harrison, R. E.; Bucci, C.; Vieira, O. V.; Schroer, T. A.; Grinstein, S., Phagosomes fuse with late endosomes and/or lysosomes by extension of membrane protrusions along microtubules: role of Rab7 and RILP. *Mol Cell Biol* **2003**, *23* (18), 6494-506.

163. Beatch, M. D.; Hobman, T. C., Rubella virus capsid associates with host cell protein p32 and localizes to mitochondria. *J Virol* **2000**, *74* (12), 5569-76.

164. Repine, J. E.; Bast, A.; Lankhorst, I., Oxidative stress in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Oxidative Stress Study Group. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* **1997**, *156* (2 Pt 1), 341-57.

165. Henricks, P. A.; Nijkamp, F. P., Reactive oxygen species as mediators in asthma. *Pulm Pharmacol Ther* **2001**, *14* (6), 409-20.

166. MacNee, W., Oxidative stress and lung inflammation in airways disease. *Eur J Pharmacol* **2001**, *429* (1-3), 195-207.

167. Rahman, I.; MacNee, W., Role of transcription factors in inflammatory lung diseases. *Thorax* **1998**, *53* (7), 601-12.

168. Li, N.; Sioutas, C.; Cho, A.; Schmitz, D.; Misra, C.; Sempf, J.; Wang, M.; Oberley, T.; Froines, J.; Nel, A., Ultrafine particulate pollutants induce oxidative stress and mitochondrial damage. *Environ Health Perspect* **2003**, *111* (4), 455-60.

169. Das, U. N., Is pyruvate an endogenous anti-inflammatory molecule? *Nutrition* **2006**, *22* (9), 965-72.

170. Daeron, M., Fc receptor biology. Annu Rev Immunol 1997, 15, 203-34.

171. Greenberg, S., Modular components of phagocytosis. *J Leukoc Biol* **1999**, *66* (5), 712-7.

172. May, R. C.; Machesky, L. M., Phagocytosis and the actin cytoskeleton. *J Cell Sci* 2001, *114* (Pt 6), 1061-77.

173. Gagnon, E.; Duclos, S.; Rondeau, C.; Chevet, E.; Cameron, P. H.; Steele-Mortimer, O.; Paiement, J.; Bergeron, J. J.; Desjardins, M., Endoplasmic reticulum-mediated phagocytosis is a mechanism of entry into macrophages. *Cell* **2002**, *110* (1), 119-31.